
AMENDED AGENDA 
CARROLL COUNTY BOARD MEETING 
**Small Courtroom, Courthouse** 

         December 21, 2023   9:30 a.m.  
         ***PLEASE SILENCE CELL PHONES*** 
 

Call to Order 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call 

Public Comments 

Consent Agenda  
1. Approval of the December 7th Meeting Minutes 
2. Approval of Bills Paid in Vacation 
3. Approval of Committee on Claims 
4. Approval of Board Members Services 

 
Tabled Items 

Department Reports 
Animal Control 
 1. Monthly Report   
Assessor 
Circuit Clerk 
County Clerk & Recorder 
 1. Approval of Semi-Annual Report 
Emergency Management 
GIS 
Highway 

 Health Department 
Probation 
Sheriff 

  1. Approval to fill vacant dispatch position 
2. Approval to fill two new correctional officer positions 
3. Approval of Semi-Annual Report 

 States Attorney 
  Transit 

Treasurer 
 1. Approval to hire Deputy Treasurer Positions 
Zoning 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
 

Affiliate Reports 
 Blackhawk Hills Regional Council – Mrs. Bickelhaupt 

Business Employment Skills Team/Workforce – Mr. Flikkema 



Community Mental Health Board – Mrs. Bickelhaupt 
Emergency Telephone System Board – Mr. Rieck 
Health Board – Mr. Iske 
Hotel/Motel – Ms. Jacobs 
Jo/Carroll Enterprise Zone  
Jo Daviess Carroll County Joint Action Solid Waste Agency – Mr. Flikkema 
LRA – Ms. Jacobs 
NWILED  
Senior Services Board – Mr. Vandermyde 
Tri-County Opportunities Council – Mr.  Preston  
United County Council of Illinois – Mr. Payette 
 1. Monthly Report 
Veterans Assistance Commission – Ms. Jacobs 
Whiteside Carroll Enterprise Zone - Mr. Payette 
 

Committee Report 
 Ad Hoc Inmate Housing Committee– Mr. Iske  
  1. Monthly Report 
  
Old Business 
 1.  Discussion and update regarding County Administrator position 

2.  Approval of the creation of a Transit PCOM position 
3.  Approval of amendments to Chapter 60 Personnel Code 

  
 New Business 
 1.  Acceptance of a conditional offer of employment for the Director of Zoning Position 
 2. Discussion and possible direction on West Carroll Administrative Building 
 
Chairman Report 

Appointments 
1. Appointment of David Soldat to fill District 1 County Board Seat vacated by John 

Grotto. 
2. Approval of County Board Vice-Chair position. 
3. Appointment of Joseph Payette to Jo/Carroll Enterprise Zone and NWILED. 
4. Approval of ETSB Appointment(s). 

    
Executive Session 

Adjournment  

Next County Board Meeting – January 4, 2024 9:30 a.m. 



CARROLL COUNTY BOARD MEETING 

301 N. MAIN ST., MT. CARROLL, IL IN SMALL COURTROOM 

DECEMBER 7, 2023  AT 9:30 A.M. 

The meeting was called to order by Chair Payette at 9:30 a.m. 

Pledge of Allegiance. 

Roll call shows Mr. Payette, Mr. Preston, Mr. Flikkema, Mr. Grotto, Mr. Iske and Mr. Rieck 
present. Mr. Vandermyde, Ms. Jacobs and Mrs. Bickelhaupt were absent.   

Chair Payette moved up to under Treasurer, number 1. Approval of Chapter 95-Procurement 
Policy for Carroll County and number 3. Under New Business Discussion regarding 
recommended changes to the Employee Personnel Code, Chapter 60.  

Public Comments – Joseph Kramer commented on the increase in the cat population.  He asked 
the Board to possibly implement a program that would help with spaying/neutering of cats.  
Chair Payette referred him to Animal Control Officer Lisa Ashby with questions or concerns. 

Chair Payette presented the consent agenda: 
1. Approval of the November 16th  Meeting Minutes
2. Approval of Bills Paid in Vacation
3. Approval of Committee on Claims

Motion by Mr. Preston, second by Mr. Grotto to approve the consent agenda. Roll call shows 
Mr. Payette, Mr. Rieck, Mr. Flikkema, Mr. Iske, Mr. Preston and Mr. Grotto all voting aye.  
Motion carried. 

Tabled Items-None 

Animal Control- Animal Control Officer Lisa Ashby updated the Board that at this time there are 
only four dogs at the shelter. 

Assessor- Chief Assessor Annette Gruhn updated the Board that over Thanksgiving weekend 
she worked on the Abstract.  She noted there are sizeable equalization factors for most 
townships because they are based on sales for 2020-2022 when property sales in the County 
were very good.  

About 3,900 assessment notices will be sent out December 13th and 14th. They are required to 
be mailed out the same day the assessment notice appears in the Mirror Democrat and 
Savanna Times Journal.  After publication, a copy of the published assessment notice is sent to 
the Illinois Department of Revune.  There is a 30-day appeal period from January 11, 2024 to 
February 12, 2024.  



Circuit Clerk- No report 

County Clerk- County Clerk Amy Buss informed that the last day to file petitions for the March 
19, 2024 Primary Election was December 4th.  There is an opening in County Board District Two. 
She explained the Write-in Process and how the two parties can slate a candidate in June for 
the November General Election on November 5, 2024 if there are no candidates.   

She updated that 39 of 57 local Veterans participated in the I Voted sticker election.  Currently 
there is a tie for the most votes, and she hopes to announce a winner on Friday, December 8, 
2023. 

Emergency Management- Jim Klinefelter presented the RFP for the Carroll County Emergency 
Operations Center/Multipurpose Area/Highway Department Building and Renovations.  
Discussion.  Mr. Klinefelter was directed to advertise for the mandatory pre-bid meeting for 
January 3, 2024 at 10:30 a.m. for contractors. The Board will hold a Special Board meeting on 
Wednesday, December 20, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. at the Highway Department/EOC Center to 
discuss the building and renovations.  Chair Payette encouraged Board members to attend the 
Special Board meeting and the pre-bid meeting on January 3, 2024 with contractors. 

Treasurer-No report. 

Treasurer Lydia Hutchcraft presented for Approval of Chapter 95-Procurement Policy for Carroll 
County which was a requirement from our auditors.  The Chapter needs to be approved before 
the end of this year and there may be changes in the future.  Motion by Mr. Iske, second by Mr. 
Flikkema to approve.  Motion carried.  

Chapter 60 Employee Personnel Code was presented for discussion.  Treasurer Hutchcraft is 
working on this Chapter due to the Paid Leave Act that becomes effective on January 1, 2024.  
After discussion, there were other possible changes that will be need to be done to this 
Chapter. Any changes will be referred to the State’s Attorney.  At the next Board meeting, the 
Chapter will be on the agenda for approval.  

GIS- No report. 

Highway – A monthly report was submitted. 

County Engineer Sara Renkes presented for approval a Resolution to appropriate MFT funds for 
the County Engineer’s salary and authorize IDOT to transfer Federal Surface Transportation 
funds for one-half salary of $61,800.00.  Motion by Mr. Preston, second by Mr. Iske to approve. 
Roll call shows Mr. Preston, Mr. Payette, Mr. Iske, Mr. Rieck, Mr. Grotto and Mr. Flikkema all 
voting aye.  Motion carried. 

County Engineer Renkes presented for Approval of Resolution to appropriate MFT funds for FY-
2024 County General Maintenance of $850,000.  Motion by Mr. Grotto, second by Mr. 
Flikkema.  Roll call shows Mr. Iske, Mr. Rieck, Mr. Grotto, Mr. Flikkema, Mr. Payette and Mr. 
Preston all voting aye. Motion carried. 



County Engineer Renkes presented for Approval of Petition for Bridge Aid from Elkhorn Grove 
Road District Section 22-02119-00-BR Fremont Road.  The total cost is estimated at 
$1,164,000.00, with the County Bridge covering $23,280 of the total cost.  Motion by Mr. Iske, 
second by Mr. Flikkema to approve.  Discussion.  Roll call shows Mr. Flikkema, Mr. Rieck, Mr. 
Iske, Mr. Payette, Mr. Preston and Mr. Grotto all voting aye. Motion carried. 

Health Department – No report. 

Probation- No report. 

Sheriff & Property- No report.  

State’s Attorney -No report  

Transit-County Administrator Mike Doty updated the Board on the land donation status for the 
Transit garage.  Deed is in the process of getting the Trustees from the Trust to sign.  It was also 
updated that IDOT notified the Transit on December 4, 2023 that they were working on the E- 
Requirements for the garage build to be completed soon.  Since then, they have been notified 
more cost estimates are needed. 

Zoning- No report. 

County Administrator Doty informed the Board the Committee will be doing four interviews on 
December 12th.  Mr. Iske asked when a new Zoning Officer is hired if a clause could be added to 
their contract that they could not leave the position for a certain amount of time. It was the 
consensus this could not be enforced.  

Zoning Board of Appeals – No report 

Affiliate Reports 

Blackhawk Hills Regional Council – No report 

Business Employment Skills Team/Workforce – No report    

Community Mental Health Board – No report 

Emergency Telephone System Board - No report 

Health Board – No report 

Hotel/Motel – No report 

Jo/Carroll Enterprise Zone - No Report 

Jo Daviess Carroll County Joint Action Solid Waste Agency - No report 

LRA- No report.  

NWILED- No report.  



Senior Services Board - No report 

Tri-County Opportunities Council – No report  

United County Council of Illinois – No report.  

Veterans Assistance Commission – No report.  

Whiteside Carroll Enterprise Zone – No report. 

Ad Hoc Inmate Housing Committee- Mr. Iske reported that Wold will be at the Courthouse on 
December 11th and 12th.  They will do a walk through and meet with Department Heads that 
work directly with the Jail.  

County Engineer Sara Renkes requested new line items be added to Fund 17 Township Bridge 
fund to Budget Year Ending Appropriations 2024.  Under Revenue, add line item named State 
IDOT Funding and add revenue figure of $447,241.  Under Expenses, add line item named State 
IDOT Expense and add expense figure of $447,241.  Motion by Ms. Jacobs, second by Mr. 
Preston to accept these new line items for revenue and expense with the figure of $447,241 to 
proposed budget.  Motion carried. 

County Engineer Sara Renkes requested one change to Fund 18 Matching fund to Budget Year 
Ending Appropriations 2024.  Line item 18-5113 new figure is $5,552,638. Motion by Mr. 
Grotto, second by Mr. Vandermyde to accept the change to Line item 18-5113 for proposed 
budget.  Motion carried.  

New Business 

Approval of a PURCHASE OF SERVICE CONTRACT-Contract for Transportation Services Between 
“Carroll County Senior Services Organization” the Operator and the Grantee “The County Of 
Carroll” Administrator of the 5311 and DOAP Grant Transportation System was presented then 
explained by County Administrator Doty.  Motion to approve by Mr. Iske, second by Mr. Rieck 
to approve.  Roll call shows Mr. Payette, Mr. Rieck, Mr. Flikkema, Mr. Iske, Mr. Preston, and Mr. 
Grotto all voting aye.  Motion carried. 

County Administrator Doty presented for Approval of Carroll County Transit Title VI Plan.  
Motion by Mr. Grotto, second by Mr. Preston to approve.  Motion carried.  

Chair Payette presented to the Board the Acceptance of Resignation for Carroll County 
Administrator as of December 22, 2023.  Chair Payette thanked Mike for helping with the 
Budget process.  He added “I will never knock anyone for wanting to retire, but darn it, it’s 
going to be tough." Mr. Payette asked for a motion to accept Mr. Doty’s resignation.  With 
hesitance Mr. Iske made the motion, second by Mr. Grotto.  Motion carried with Mr. Preston 
voting nay.   



Chair Payette presented for discussion and approval to advertise for the position of County 
Administrator. 

Discussion was where to advertise. It was decided to advertise with ILCMA. 

Discussion on the salary range for the annual salary.  Motion by Mr. Grotto, second by Mr. 
Preston to approve job description as presented and have the annual wage be $90,000 from 
$110,000.  Discussion. It was the consensus of the Board to add the word “preferred” five 
years’ experience in municipal government operations.  Motion carried. 

Chair Payette presented the job description that was drafted by County Administrator Doty.  
Discussion on the job description and additional advertising in Shaw’s Media plus on our County 
Website. He would like the County Board to come back at the January 18, 2024, Board Meeting 
with any changes or additions to the job description.   

Any calls or emails after December 22nd will be forwarded to the County Clerk’s office.  

County Board Member Mr. Rieck suggested that the Board consider doing exit interviews with 
Employees that are leaving employment with the County.   

Chair Payette presented for discussion and possible approval to creating a Transit PCOM 
position.  County Administrator Doty explained the job description for a Transit PCOM position 
since he has done it for the past twelve years. It was discussed how many hours is required for 
this position, possibly making it a part-time or a full-time position.  

Chair Payette asked the Board to table and at the next Board meeting plan on having a better 
understanding of what the position’s job description will be.   

Chairman Reports-Chair Payette asked the Board that with the Wold decision coming in the 
next couple of months to think about space allocation at the Courthouse. He has spoken with 
the Superintendent of West Carroll about the possibility of them selling the school’s 
administrative building. He would like the Board to be thinking about the possibility of the 
County obtaining the building and moving several County offices there. 

County Board Member John Grotto addressed the Board, department heads and the public on 
his decision to resign from the County Board.  Due to his wife’s health issues, he will not have 
the time to commit to the County Board.  Chair Payette thanked him for his service on the 
County Board.  

Chair Payette will notify each political party chairman about this opening for County Board seat. 

Appointments-None 

Executive Session-None 



Motion by Mr. Preston, second by Mr. Grotto to adjourn at 11:35 a.m.  Motion carried. 

Submitted by Amy R. Buss, Couty Clerk and Recorder 

 



Selection Criteria: Vendor =  

Bank = 

Batch = 

Due Date = 12/21/2023

Invoice Date = 

Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

01 COURTHOUSE UPKEEPDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

KLOEPPING DEC 2023 12/21/2023 RYAN KLOEPPING

$495.01CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01101005436 COURTHOUSE IMPROVMT-TUCK1464

392842 11/21/2023 MONTHLY WEB HOSTING

$21.95COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01101005005 UTILITIES--TELEPHONE1091

392843 12/21/2023 MONTHLY EMAIL SECURITY

$111.15COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01101005005 UTILITIES--TELEPHONE1091

2009764592311 12/21/2023 CARROLL COUNTY

$45.29MCI 01101005005 UTILITIES--TELEPHONE640191

11.30.23 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$307.42MT.CARROLL HOME CENTER 01101005003 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE3078

206123 12/21/2023 COURTHOUSE

$1,431.52NU-TREND ACCESSIBILITY SYSTEMS, IN 01101005003 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE3238

8346589 12/21/2023 COURTHOUSE

$114.34PLUNKETT'S PEST CONTROL INC. 01101005003 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE3413

775321326 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$429.62THE HOME DEPOT PRO 01101005003 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE640379

776925331 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$121.64THE HOME DEPOT PRO 01101005003 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE640379

$3,077.94Subtotal for Department: 01 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 1 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)

Committee on Claims



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

02 SUPPLIES AND RENTALSDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

T2408203 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$259.00TECHNOLOGY MANAGEMENT REV. FUND 01102005319 RENTALS & LEASE640198

$259.00Subtotal for Department: 02 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 2 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

03 OFFICE EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

INV598407 12/21/2023 ASSESSOR

$93.00STERLING BUSINESS EQUIP. CENT. 01103005025 OFFICE EQUIPMENT MAINTENAN4192

$93.00Subtotal for Department: 03 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 3 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

04 COUNTY BOARD SERVICESDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

2024 DUES 12/21/2023 CARROLL COUNTY

$750.00UNITED COUNTIES COUNCIL OF IL 01104005422 TRAVEL, DUES & SUPPLIES4570

$750.00Subtotal for Department: 04 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 4 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

05 SUPERVISOR OF ASSESSMENTSDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

S496350 12/21/2023 ASSESSOR

$22.50PEARSON 01105005323 PRINTING SUPPLIES & OTHERS3565

20999 12/21/2023 ASSESSOR

$1,050.00VANGUARD APPRAISALS INC. 01105005027 APPRAISAL SOFTWARE4660

$1,072.50Subtotal for Department: 05 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 5 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

07 ELECTIONSDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

COCLERK_11.30.23 12/21/2023 CO CLERK / PETITION FILING NOTICE

$280.00MIRROR DEMOCRAT 01107005024 ELECTION PUBLICATIONS         2960

COCLERK_11.30.23 12/21/2023 CO CLERK / PETITION FILING NOTICE

$280.00SAVANNA TIMES JOURNAL 01107005024 ELECTION PUBLICATIONS         3800

$560.00Subtotal for Department: 07 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 6 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

12 COUNTY TREASURERDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

S496349 12/21/2023 TREASURER

$22.50PEARSON 01112005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3565

3106397350 12/21/2023 TREASURER

$300.93PITNEY BOWES GLOBAL FINANCIAL SERV 01112005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES640586

35809522 12/21/2023 TREASURER

$17.81QUILL CORPORATION 01112005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3540

35809201 12/21/2023 TREASURER

$58.99QUILL CORPORATION 01112005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3540

35820653 12/21/2023 TREASURER

$394.88QUILL CORPORATION 01112005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3540

35822474 12/21/2023 TREASURER

$95.04QUILL CORPORATION 01112005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3540

35820515 12/21/2023 TREASURER

$4.79QUILL CORPORATION 01112005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3540

$894.94Subtotal for Department: 12 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 7 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

13 COUNTY CLERK AND RECORDERDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

BUSS DEC 2023 12/21/2023 AMY BUSS

$114.87CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01113005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES1464

S496357 12/21/2023 COUNTY CLERK

$30.00PEARSON 01113005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3565

INV596709 12/21/2023 CO CLERK

$178.60STERLING BUSINESS EQUIP. CENT. 01113005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES4192

596066 12/21/2023 CO CLERK

$405.41STERLING BUSINESS EQUIP. CENT. 01113005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES4192

$728.88Subtotal for Department: 13 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 8 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

17 ZONINGDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

112310159378 12/21/2023 ZONING JOB POSTING

$941.00SAUK VALLEY MEDIA 01117005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES40040

$941.00Subtotal for Department: 17 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 9 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

19 DOG CATCHERDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

CLAIM 12.21.23 12/21/2023 ANNUAL RENEWAL

$50.00ILLINOIS ANIMAL CONTROL ASSOC. 01119005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES27012

CLAIM 12.21.23 12/21/2023 2024 REG TAGS

$298.00NATIONAL BAND & TAG COMPANY 01119006039 AUTO TELEPHONE & SUPPLIES640049

$348.00Subtotal for Department: 19 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 10 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

20 COUNTY SHERRIFFDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

287318885952X12032023 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$569.75AT&T MOBILITY 01120007055 CELL PHONES640659

76938 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$340.98BALCO UNIFORM 01120006046 UNIFORMS640378

2455 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$98.50BIELEMA AUTO REPAIR & SALES 01120006044 SQUAD CAR MAINTENANCE383

INV1943164 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$154.00BOB BARKER COMPANY 01120006087 PRISONER GENERAL CARE260

INV1964828 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$92.13BOB BARKER COMPANY 01120006087 PRISONER GENERAL CARE260

INV1944127 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$147.68BOB BARKER COMPANY 01120006087 PRISONER GENERAL CARE260

11.25.23 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$80.76BUSHMAN'S SERVICE 01120006044 SQUAD CAR MAINTENANCE620

KLOEPPING DEC 2023 12/21/2023 RYAN KLOEPPING

$100.10CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01120005012 TRAVEL1464

KLOEPPING DEC 2023 12/21/2023 RYAN KLOEPPING

$48.16CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01120005323 OFFICE SUPPLIES1464

KLOEPPING DEC 2023 12/21/2023 RYAN KLOEPPING

$995.54CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01120006046 UNIFORMS1464

MAGILL DEC 2023 12/21/2023 MATTHEW MAGILL

$268.73CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01120005323 OFFICE SUPPLIES1464

NOV 2023 12/21/2023 SHERIFF FUEL

$3,008.88CARROLL COUNTY HIGHWAY DEPT. 01120006051 SHERIFF--FUEL2040

Page 11 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

56516 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$121.30EWERS GARAGE 01120006044 SQUAD CAR MAINTENANCE1540

026419357 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$268.44GALLS LLC 01120006046 UNIFORMS1771

026269154 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$53.74GALLS LLC 01120006046 UNIFORMS1771

026208354 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$177.24GALLS LLC 01120006046 UNIFORMS1771

1344224-20231130 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$200.00LEXISNEXIS RISK SOLUTIONS 01120005323 OFFICE SUPPLIES640174

REIMBURSE_12.21.23 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$470.36MICHELLE  BARNES 01120006046 UNIFORMS640214

35884484 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$272.40QUILL CORPORATION 01120005323 OFFICE SUPPLIES3540

19593 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$534.00ROCK RIVER SERVICE CO 01120006047 RADIO CONTRACT & REPAIRS3711

114313 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$255.11UNIFORM DEN, INC. 01120006046 UNIFORMS4510

UPI12056 12/21/2023 SHERIFF / KODY SCHEIDER

$6,440.00UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS 01120006048 TRAINING FEES640598

$14,697.80Subtotal for Department: 20 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 12 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

21 VILLAGE OF THOMPSONDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

2024 12/21/2023 THOMSON CAUSEWAY

$15,655.83VILLAGE OF THOMSON 01121007049 THOMSON-POLICING CAUSEWA4700

$15,655.83Subtotal for Department: 21 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 13 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

24 PUBLIC DEFENDERDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

2021JA2_12.8.23 12/21/2023 ATTY FEES

$75.00DAVID WEISSMILLER 01124007104 DEFENDING ATTORNEY-SALARY640170

2023JA1,2,3_12.8.23 12/21/2023 ATTY FEES

$75.00DAVID WEISSMILLER 01124007104 DEFENDING ATTORNEY-SALARY640170

2021JA9_12.8.23 12/21/2023 ATTY FEES

$75.00DAVID WEISSMILLER 01124007104 DEFENDING ATTORNEY-SALARY640170

2018JA7,8,9,10_12.8.23 12/21/2023 ATTY FEES

$75.00DAVID WEISSMILLER 01124007104 DEFENDING ATTORNEY-SALARY640170

2022JA3,4,5_12.8.23 12/21/2023 ATTY FEES

$75.00DAVID WEISSMILLER 01124007104 DEFENDING ATTORNEY-SALARY640170

$375.00Subtotal for Department: 24 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 14 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

25 PROBATIONDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

ARNO DEC 2023 12/21/2023 MARCIE ARNO

$11.00CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01125007072 PERSONAL SAFETY1464

392868 12/21/2023 PROBATION

$47.18COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01125007070 SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE1091

9411 12/21/2023 PROBATION

$38.74NEIGHBORHOOD OFFICE SOLUTIONS 01125005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3172

PROBATION 12.1.23 12/21/2023 PROBATION

$700.00OFFICE OF THE CHIEF JUDGE 01125007073 CHIEF JUDGE869

$796.92Subtotal for Department: 25 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 15 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

26 STATES ATTORNEYDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

INUS206870 12/21/2023 STATES ATTY

$3,312.01AXON ENTERPRISE INC 01126005183 DIGITAL EVIDENCE PROGRAM    640162

KANEY DEC 2023 12/21/2023 AARON KANEY

$8.56CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01126005341 OTHER EXPENDITURES            1464

849346852 12/21/2023 STATES ATTY

$351.57THOMSON REUTERS-WEST 01126005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES4326

$3,672.14Subtotal for Department: 26 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 16 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

27 CIRCUIT CLERKDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

HIHER DEC 2023 12/21/2023 PATRICIA HIHER

$430.32CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01127005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES1464

HIHER DEC 2023 12/21/2023 PATRICIA HIHER

$239.68CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01127005012 TRAVEL1464

392890 12/21/2023 CIRCUIT CLERK

$69.00COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01127005325 COMPUTER EQUIP/SOFTWARE E1091

REIMBURSE 12.21.23 12/21/2023 CIRCUIT CLERK / MILEAGE

$70.76PATRICIA HIHER 01127005012 TRAVEL640133

S496352 12/21/2023 CIRCUIT CLERK

$22.50PEARSON 01127005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3565

$832.26Subtotal for Department: 27 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 17 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

28 COURT EXPENSES - JUDGESDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

11159822 12/21/2023 JUDGE

$3.43LANGUAGE LINE 01128005341 OTHER EXPENDITURES2529

$3.43Subtotal for Department: 28 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 18 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

31 FINANCIAL SOFTWAREDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

392864 12/21/2023 TREASURER-DEC2023

$459.00COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01131005525 BACKUP SUPPORT                1091

392723 12/21/2023 TREASURER

$55.00COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01131005431 FINANCIAL SOFTWARE SUPPOR1091

392723 12/21/2023 TREASURER

$459.00COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01131005525 BACKUP SUPPORT                1091

392864 12/21/2023 TREASURER-DEC2023

$55.00COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01131005431 FINANCIAL SOFTWARE SUPPOR1091

$1,028.00Subtotal for Department: 31 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 19 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

35 HIGHWAY OFFICE UPKEEPDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

15643320003_1.12.24 12/21/2023 HWY DEPT

$749.14NICOR GAS 01135005006 UTILITIES--GAS                1800

$749.14Subtotal for Department: 35 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $46,535.78

Page 20 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 013 BRIDGE AID FUND

2197 12/21/2023 PROF SERVICES

$1,749.41WILLETT HOFMANN & ASSOC INC. 01300005112 REIMBURSEMENTS4900

CLAIM 2198 12/21/2023 MILLEDGEVILLE RD BRIDGE

$3,270.75WILLETT HOFMANN & ASSOC INC. 01300008552 CAPITAL OUTLAY                4900

$5,020.16Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 013 : $5,020.16

Page 21 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 014 COUNTY HIGHWAY FUND

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 UNIFORM RENTAL

$357.90ARAMARK UNIFORM SERVICES INC. 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE152

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 MICROSTATION SOFTWARE

$532.63BENTLEY SYSTEMS, INC 01400005106 ENGINEERING FEES345

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 PLOW BOLTS

$345.00BONNELL INDUSTRIES INC 01400005103 HIGHWAY EQUIPMENT MAINTEN435

RENKES DEC 2023 12/21/2023 SARA RENKES

$168.91CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01400005109 ADMINISTRATIVE1464

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 SHOP SUPPLIES

$431.23CARQUEST OF MT.CARROLL 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE640474

 CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 ACO & SHERIFF FUEL

$3,214.41CARROLL SERVICE COMPANY 01400005112 REIMBURSEMENTS740

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 HWY DEPT FUEL

$2,144.82CARROLL SERVICE COMPANY 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE740

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 WATER & SEWER-GARAGE

$82.22CITY OF MT. CARROLL 01400005105 GARAGE OPERATION & MAINTE900

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 BOOTS

$104.99CLINT DAVIS 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE1312

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 REIMBURSEMENT

$63.00David Wilkinson 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE640280

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 DATER STAMP & INK REFILLS

$88.10DES MOINES STAMP MFG. CO. 01400005109 ADMINISTRATIVE4120

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 WINTER WEAR

$235.50GLENN HOFFMAN 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE640616

Page 22 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 CLD RENEWAL

$60.00JOHN MOSHURE 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE3054

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 PORTABLE RADIOS

$751.60LECTRONICS, INC. 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE2610

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 WINTER WEAR

$400.00MARTY HOCKMAN 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE2043

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 SHOP SUPPLIES

$99.95MT.CARROLL HOME CENTER 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE3078

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 COPIER CHARGES

$52.00NEIGHBORHOOD OFFICE SOLUTIONS 01400005109 ADMINISTRATIVE3172

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 GAS - GARAGE

$208.53NICOR GAS 01400005105 GARAGE OPERATION & MAINTE1800

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 REPAIRS

$3,551.35NORTHERN ILLINOIS DIESEL 01400005103 HIGHWAY EQUIPMENT MAINTEN3220

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 FALL GARAGE MAINTENANCE

$540.00RIVER CITIES HEATING, A/C & REFRIGERATIO 01400005105 GARAGE OPERATION & MAINTE640243

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 SHOP SUPPLIES

$88.04STERLING NAPA AUTO PARTS 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE640330

CLAIM 4348-C 12/21/2023 TREE & BRUSH REMOVAL

$3,575.00THE SPECIALIST, INC 01400005101 MAINTENANCE OF COUNTY HIG640550

$17,095.18Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 014 : $17,095.18

Page 23 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 015 TOWNSHIP MOTOR FUEL T

AX

7819-MT 12/21/2023 HWY SALT/CHIP MIX WOODLAND

$911.58CARROLL COUNTY HIGHWAY DEPT. 01500005120 MAINT/CONSTRUCTION - ROADS2040

$911.58Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 015 : $911.58

Page 24 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 022 COURT AUTOMATION

12.1.23-CIRCUIT 12/21/2023 CIRCUIT CLERK

$200.00OFFICE OF THE CHIEF JUDGE 02200005135 COMPUTER SOFTWARE869

$200.00Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 022 : $200.00

Page 25 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 023 COUNTY RECORDER FEES

0709034-IN 12/21/2023 AVID & APEX NOV 2023

$737.20FIDLAR TECHNOLOGIES 02300006031 RECORDERS--TRANSACTION FE1660

$737.20Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 023 : $737.20

Page 26 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 027 ANIMAL CONTROL

CLAIM 12.21.23 12/21/2023 NEUTERED COVERDILL DOG

$43.35MT.CARROLL HOME CENTER 02700005358 ANIMAL CONTROL--EUTH & VET3078

$43.35Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 027 : $43.35

Page 27 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 032 PROBATION SERVICE FEE

ARNO DEC 2023 12/21/2023 MARCIE ARNO

$30.90CARDMEMBER SERVICES 03200005206 FUTURE EXPENDITURES1464

ARNO DEC 2023 12/21/2023 MARCIE ARNO

$38.63CARDMEMBER SERVICES 03200005206 FUTURE EXPENDITURES1464

ARNO DEC 2023 12/21/2023 MARCIE ARNO

$38.93CARDMEMBER SERVICES 03200007069 DRUG TESTING                  1464

002868202311 12/21/2023 PROBATION

$26.25REDWOOD TOXICOLOGY LAB 03200007069 DRUG TESTING                  3598

$134.71Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 032 : $134.71

Page 28 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 034 LIABILITY INSURANCE FUN

D

DUE 1.12.24 12/21/2023 CARROLL COUNTY

$155,277.00COUNTIES OF IL. MANAGEMENT AGENCY 03400005375 PROPERTY & CAS INSURANCE3671

$155,277.00Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 034 : $155,277.00

Page 29 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 040 COUNTY MOTEL/HOTEL TA

X FUND

HUTCHCRAFT DEC 2023 12/21/2023 LYDIA HUTCHCRAFT

$94.87CARDMEMBER SERVICES 04000005154 TOURISM/PROMOTIONS1464

$94.87Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 040 : $94.87

Page 30 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 041 COUNTY 911 ETSB FUND

304013829_12.22.23 12/21/2023 ETSB

$83.56BRIGHTSPEED 04100005373 NETWORKING &TELEPHONE640705

 MAGILL DEC 2023 12/21/2023 MATTHEW MAGILL

$272.75CARDMEMBER SERVICES 04100005323 PRINTING, SUPPLIES & POSTAG1464

 MAGILL DEC 2023 12/21/2023 MATTHEW MAGILL

$422.56CARDMEMBER SERVICES 04100005192 EQUIPMENT & REPAIRS1464

INV1565019 12/21/2023 ETSB

$2,607.00CDS OFFICE TECHNOLOGIES 04100005192 EQUIPMENT & REPAIRS640599

10716362909 12/21/2023 911

$2,205.47DELL MARKETING L.P. 04100005144 CAPITAL PROJECTS              1329

10717660459 12/21/2023 911

$1,999.82DELL MARKETING L.P. 04100005144 CAPITAL PROJECTS              1329

78730 12/21/2023 ETSB

$1,625.00LECTRONICS, INC 04100005191 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES41029

11394 12/21/2023 911

$1,536.00NG-911/SOLACOM 04100005191 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES640472

$10,752.16Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 041 : $10,752.16

Page 31 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 054 COUNTY HEALTH FUND

304001747_12.22.23 12/21/2023 HEALTH DEPT

$122.57BRIGHTSPEED 05400005085 TELEPHONE640705

LIEB DEC 2023 12/21/2023 DOUGLAS LIEB

$45.40CARDMEMBER SERVICES 05400006257 SIPA DENTAL                   1464

LIEB DEC 2023 12/21/2023 DOUGLAS LIEB

$205.46CARDMEMBER SERVICES 05400005323 PRINTING, SUPPLIES & POSTAG1464

LIEB DEC 2023 12/21/2023 DOUGLAS LIEB

$63.40CARDMEMBER SERVICES 05400005012 TRAVEL1464

DHOLLAND DEC 2023 12/21/2023 DAWN HOLLAND

$100.00CARDMEMBER SERVICES 05400005085 TELEPHONE1464

DHOLLAND DEC 2023 12/21/2023 DAWN HOLLAND

$5.73CARDMEMBER SERVICES 05400005323 PRINTING, SUPPLIES & POSTAG1464

DHOLLAND DEC 2023 12/21/2023 DAWN HOLLAND

$136.20CARDMEMBER SERVICES 05400006257 SIPA DENTAL                   1464

PETTY CASH_12.21.23 12/21/2023 HEALTH DEPT

$40.93CARROLL COUNTY HEALTH DEPT 05400005323 PRINTING, SUPPLIES & POSTAG741

10436001_12.15.23 12/21/2023 HEALTH DEPT

$94.56CITY OF MT.CARROLL 05400005004 UTILITIES--ELECTRICITY & WATE54144

392854 12/21/2023 HEALTH DEPT

$21.55COMPUTER DYNAMICS OF N.W. IL. 05400005344 CONTRACTUAL54143

10002007_12.24.23 12/21/2023 HEALTH DEPT

$74.99JO CARROLL ENERGY 05400005085 TELEPHONE54117

15726017 12/21/2023 HEALTH DEPT

$274.73LEAF 05400005344 CONTRACTUAL2614

Page 32 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

2024 SUBSCRIPTION 12/21/2023 HEALTH DEPT

$40.00MIRROR DEMOCRAT 05400005323 PRINTING, SUPPLIES & POSTAG54071

17264199393_1.12.24 12/21/2023 HEALTH DEPT

$102.42NICOR 05400005004 UTILITIES--ELECTRICITY & WATE54118

9207128250 12/21/2023 HEALTH DEPT

$744.18QUEST DIAGNOSTICS 05400005344 CONTRACTUAL54134

8005281631 12/21/2023 HEALTH DEPT

$82.42Stericycle 05400005344 CONTRACTUAL54008

0617829790 12/21/2023 HEALTH DEPT

$38.26US CELLULAR 05400005085 TELEPHONE54005

$2,192.80Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 054 : $2,192.80

Page 33 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 056 PET POPULATION CONTR

OL FUND

CLAIM 12.21.232 12/21/2023 SAM NEUTERED

$202.65NORTHERN ILLINOIS VET SERVICES 05600005503 SPAY & NEUTERING2951

$202.65Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 056 : $202.65

Page 34 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 084 CORONA VIRUS RELIEF FU

ND

2142201210-11 12/21/2023 SHERIFF

$600.00SHIVE-HATTERY 08400005561 HVAC                          640647

$600.00Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 084 : $600.00

Page 35 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 087 PUBLIC DEFENDER SAFET

Y ACT

12.12.23 12/21/2023 JUDGE / OPERATIONAL COSTS

$10,000.00DAVID J BROWN 08700005510 DISBURSEMENTS                 640443

$10,000.00Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 087 : $10,000.00

Page 36 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

Fund Totals
Fund Fund TotalFund Name

011 $46,535.78GENERAL FUND

013 $5,020.16BRIDGE AID FUND

014 $17,095.18COUNTY HIGHWAY FUND

015 $911.58TOWNSHIP MOTOR FUEL 

022 $200.00COURT AUTOMATION

023 $737.20COUNTY RECORDER FEES

027 $43.35ANIMAL CONTROL

032 $134.71PROBATION SERVICE FEE

034 $155,277.00LIABILITY INSURANCE FU

040 $94.87COUNTY MOTEL/HOTEL T

041 $10,752.16COUNTY 911 ETSB FUND

054 $2,192.80COUNTY HEALTH FUND

056 $202.65PET POPULATION CONTR

084 $600.00CORONA VIRUS RELIEF F

087 $10,000.00PUBLIC DEFENDER SAFET

$249,797.44Total:

Page 37 of 37Operator: janeadolph 12/18/2023 1:23:03 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



BOARD MEMBER SERVICES 
September 2023 THRU November 2023 

(unless otherwise noted) 

Joseph Payette 

7 County Board  (Sept - Nov)      $840.00 meeting per diem + $539.72 mileage + $650 Stipend 

2 JCLRA (Sept)    $2,029.72 Total 

4 UCCI Meetings (Sept-Oct) – 752 miles 

1 Meeting EZMO (Sept) - 72 miles 

14 Meetings Paid x $60/meeting + 824 miles x $0.655/mile 

Julie Bickelhaupt - None Submitted

Chris Flikkema 

4 County Board  (Sept - Nov)   $300.00 meeting per diem 

1 Inmate Housing Committee (Sept - Nov) $300.00 Total 

5 Meetings Paid x $60/meeting 

John Grotto 

7 County Board  (Sept - Nov)  $420.00 meeting per diem 

$420.00 Total 

7 Meetings Paid x $60/meeting 



William Iske - None Submitted

Susan Jacobs 

7 County Board  (Sept - Nov)   $720.00 meeting per diem 

2 Hotel-Motel Board (Sept - Nov) $720.00 Total 

1 VAC (Sept) 

2 LRA (Oct – Nov) 

12 Meetings Paid x $60/meeting 

Ronald Preston 

6 County Board  (Sept - Nov)   $540.00 meeting per diem 

3 Tri-County (Sept - Nov) $540.00 Total 

9 Meetings Paid x $60/meeting  

Jamie Rieck 

4 County Board  (Sept - Nov)    $360.00 meeting per diem 

1 ETSB (Sept - Nov) $360.00 Total 

1 Inmate Housing Committee (Sept - Nov) 

6 Meetings Paid x $60/meeting  

Keith Vandermyde - None Submitted

















2024 I Voted Sticker 
Contest Winner!! 















Inmate housing committee: 

William Iske, James Rieck, Julie Bickelhaupt and Chris Flikkema to be present. 

Wold Architecture firm conducted a face-to-face interview with several Carroll County personal 
associated with the judicial system on Dec.11th and 12th 2023.  Also in attendance was Sheriff 
Kloepping, Chief Deputy Mike Holland and Board member William Iske. 

Interviews held with Public defender, Circuit clerk, County Administrator, Judge Kane, States Attorney, 
Probation, CGH medical personal & Inmate housing committee. 

Many points around our current building and workflow were highlighted which will help point us in the 
direction best suited for the future. There was a general thought that the county population would be 
flat to slightly decline over the next 10 years and that the jail population would stay flat to slightly lower. 
In the previous 10 years the county has seen a decrease in population. 

Wold praised our low process times for inmates which yield county dollar benefits. Currently the 
workflow and personal seem to work well together as one unit which benefits from flexibility and ad- 
hock processes. On the flip side, process gaps and antiquated process/tools could be enhanced with a 
better facility and technology improvements.  

Respectively Submitted Inmate Housing committee 

William Iske chair 



DRAFT****Employee Personnel Code 60 
Ar�cle 60-1-1 Ar�cle 60.1 

Introduc�on and Administra�on STATEMENT OF POLICY. 

The Carroll County board recognizes that a personnel system which recruits and retains competent 
dependable County personnel is indispensable to an efficient County government. To achieve this goal 
the County Board Chairman will designate a Services Commitee County Board that will oversee 
personnel issues.  

A. The Commitee County Board shall serve by par�cipa�ng in or performing the following
ac�vi�es:

1. Classifying posi�ons in County service;
2. Developing systems to compensate employees equitably for their services; Assis�ng in the

recruitment of persons for County Services;
3. Providing for employee welfare;
4. Providing for employee training and development;
5. Providing advice and assistance to employees on personnel maters, to include assistance in

filing of health benefit claims;
6. Providing for resolu�on of employee grievances;

B. For the purpose of this document, a policy is the statement of a County goal. A Procedure is a
specific step for reaching that County goal and can include the use of special forms. The policies
and procedures will be updated and changed as required. The document is designed to:
1. Provide a basis for and define the objec�ves of the personnel program.
2. Assign responsibility for carrying out the principles and prac�ces of the personnel program.
3. Provide recognized authority, consistent with applicable laws and County ordinances, when

ac�on is to be taken and to minimize the possibility of unauthorized personnel ac�on.
C. 4. 60-1-1.1-1  ADDITIONS TO THE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES Internal day to day

policies may be necessary within individual departments for efficient and effec�ve opera�ons
Departments desiring to establish departmental policies are requested to reduce them to
writen format and submit them to the Services Commitee. The Services Commitee will
indicate in wri�ng to department heads whether or not such policies are within the guidelines of
the established County policies. A copy of such internal policies shall be made available either by
writen delivery to the employee or by pos�ng in a conspicuous loca�on within the department.

D. 60-1-1.3-4  DISSEMINATION OF THE RULES. Department heads shall be provided with
complete copies of all policies and procedures and changes thereto by the Services Commitee
County Board and shall be responsible for maintaining a complete and current set, and for
bringing these policies and procedures to the aten�on of all employees in their departments.
1. A handbook summarizing these policies and procedures shall be disseminated to all

employees upon publica�on and to all new employees on hire.

Ar�cle 60.2 
EMPLOYEMENT IN CARROLL COUNTY 



 
60-1-1.2-1.1 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY As a mater of policy, Carroll County requires 
employment, training and promo�ons, and all personnel ac�ons to be based on individual merit and 
individual capabili�es without regard to race, religion, color, na�onal origin, sexual orienta�on, sex 
or age. This policy requires full coopera�on of all Carroll County employees. We choose to follow this 
policy on the basis of fairness to all individuals rather than on the basis of our legal requirement. 
Responsibility for correla�on and implementa�on of the plan and related ac�vi�es throughout the 
County has been assigned to the Services Commitee. 

 
A. Employees shall prac�ce non-discrimina�on, pursuant to the laws summarized below: 

 

1.  Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and its implemen�ng regula�ons, requires all services 
provided directly by the department, or through contractual arrangement, be delivered 
without regard to race, color, religion, sex, disability or na�onal origin.  

2. Sec�on 504 of the Rehabilita�on Act of 1973, and its implemen�ng regula�ons, requires all 
services provided directly by the department, or by contract, to be delivered as to not 
discriminate on the basis of disability in admissions, access, treatment, or employment.  

3. The Age Discrimina�on Act of 1975, and its implemen�ng regula�ons, requires all services 
provided directly by the county, or by contract, to be delivered as to not discriminate, on the 
basis of age, in the provision of services, unless age is a factor necessary to normal opera�ons 
or an iden�fied, popula�on based public health objec�ve. 

4.  Title II of the American with Disabili�es Act of 1990. The county will not, on the basis of 
disability, exclude or deny a qualified individual, with a disability, from par�cipa�on in, or 
benefits of, services it provides. 
 

B. It is the policy of Carroll County not to discriminate or retaliate in any manner against any person 
because of such person's opposi�on to any prac�ce declared unlawful under Title VII of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1964 or the Illinois Human Rights Act; or because of the filing of a charge, giving of 
tes�mony or assistance, or par�cipa�ng in any manner in any inves�ga�on, proceeding or 
hearing under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 or the Illinois Human Rights Act. 

 
C. Carroll County is commited to a work environment in which all individuals are treated with 

respect and dignity. Each individual has the right to work in a professional atmosphere that 
promotes equal employment opportuni�es and prohibits unlawful discriminatory prac�ces, 
including harassment. Therefore, Carroll County expects that all rela�onships among persons in 
the office will be business-like and free of bias, prejudice and harassment. 
 

D. 60-1-1.3 SCOPE OF COVERAGE AND GENERAL PROVISIONS 
The Carroll County Board recognizes the appoin�ng authority vested by various statues, in the 
elected officers of the County. Nothing in these policies should be construed as avoidance of that 
authority; however, the appointment should be made from a field of candidates developed 
under the guidelines of these policies and procedures.60-1-1.3-1SPECIFIC SCOPE OF COVERAGE 
The following are expressly exempt from coverage: 
1. All individuals elected, and appointed officers of the County. 
2. All advisory boards, commissions and commitees appointed by the Carroll County Board. 



3. All consultants, advisors and counsel rendering temporary professional services. 
Independent contractors. 

4. Personnel covered under the jurisdic�on of a Collec�ve Bargaining Agreement. 
5.  Proba�on Department personnel under the jurisdic�on of the Chief Circuit Judge. 
6. All County employment posi�ons not expressly exempt from coverage by these policies and 

procedures shall be subject to their provisions. Upon adop�on by the County Board, these 
policies will become effec�ve on the day and date adopted, and will in no way affect any sick 
leave, accrued vaca�on, or longevity �me any employee has already accrued. The purpose of 
these provisions is to acquaint employees of all County departments with office policy and 
procedures so as to help them understand the provisions that have been made in their 
interests and which will, at the same �me, enable them to maintain both quality and 
produc�vity in their work performance 
 

E. 60-1-1.2-2 PREGNANCY RIGHTS It is illegal for your employer to fire you, refuse to hire you or to 
refuse to provide you with a reasonable accommoda�on because of your pregnancy. For more 
informa�on regarding your rights, download the Illinois Department of Human Rights' fact sheet 
from our website at www.illinois.gov/dhr. 
If you are pregnant, recovering from childbirth, or have a condi�on related to pregnancy, you 
have the right to ask for a reasonable accommoda�on.  This includes bathroom breaks, 
assistance with heavy li�ing, a private space for expressing milk, or �me off to recover from your 
pregnancy. For more informa�on regarding your rights, download the Illinois Department of 
Human Rights' fact sheet from our website at www.illinois.gov/dhr. 

 
60-1-1.3-2 CATEGORIES OF EMPLOYEES  
 
The purpose of this sec�on is to standardize terminology and insure common understanding in reference 
to employees. 
 
A. County employees fall into the following classifica�ons: 
 

1.  EMPLOYEE. All persons who received wages or salaries from the County. Elected and 
appointed officials whose posi�ons are exempt are considered employees for purposes of 
benefit administra�on.***needs to be explained below.*** 

 
2.  COLLECTIVE BARGAINING EMPLOYEES. These employees where applicable follow 

guidelines within their union contract following the proba�onary period. 
 

3.  PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES. Those employees who are hired a�er adop�on of these 
policies and are serving a six month proba�onary period. During this period, the employee has 
an opportunity to demonstrate proper a�tude and abili�es for the posi�on for which employed. 
The employee may be dismissed or terminated from employment with proper no�ce without 
obliga�on during this period. Employees on proba�on are not eligible for any paid leave during 
this period; however, a�er the proba�onary period is over, benefit leave which has been 
accruing since beginning employment is eligible for use. 

 
4.  FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES. Those employees who work for the customary number of hours 

weekly and 52 weeks a year for their department. All employees in this category are eligible for 



all employee benefits including I.M.R.F.; group insurance for employee only, paid vaca�ons, paid 
sick leave, paid holidays, and en�tled to worker's compensa�on and unemployment insurance. 

 
5.  IMRF QUALIFIED EMPLOYEES. Employees that work more than 1,000 hours annually. 

Employees in this category will be eligible for the following employee benefit programs: I.M.R.F., 
worker's compensa�on, and pro rata vaca�on and sick leave. Employees will accumulate sick 
leave and vaca�on �me, but will not be permited to u�lize the �me un�l reaching the minimum 
of 1, 000 hours worked. 

 
6.  PART-TIME EMPLOYEES. Those employees who work less than the customary number of 

full-�me hours weekly or less than 52 weeks a year for their department. , but more than 1,000 
hours annually. Employees in this category will be eligible for the following employee benefit 
programs: I.M.R.F., worker's compensa�on, and pro rata vaca�on and sick leave. Employees will 
accumulate sick leave and vaca�on �me, but will not be permited to u�lize the �me un�l 
reaching the minimum of 1, 000 hours worked. Effec�ve with the passage of these policies, 
employees in the category may par�cipate in the Carroll County Hospital and Medical Insurance 
Program Plan by paying 100% of the premium and providing proof of insurability. 

 
7.  EXCEPTION. Employees in this category on the effec�ve date of these policies, and who 

have been fully insured under any or all previous insurance policies, may par�cipate in the 
Carroll County Hospital and Medical Insurance Plan by paying 100% of the premium and without 
providing proof of insurability.   ***I DON’T BELIEVE WE HAVE EXCEPTION EMPLOYEES, DO WE 
NEED THIS CATEGORY?*** 

 
8.  OCCASIONAL OR SEASONAL EMPLOYEES. Those employees who work full-�me, but 

whose service is of limited dura�on, such as during the summer months only, or less than the 
customary number of full-�me hours weekly in their department. Employees in this category are 
not eligible for any employee benefits except worker's compensa�on. Employees in this category 
shall not work more than 1,000 hours in each anniversary year. 

 
9.  ELECTED OFFICIALS.  Elected by the public through elec�ons. They are salaried 

employees and receive the following benefits from county IMRF and Health Insurance 
 

10.  APPOINTED OFFICIALS. Posi�ons appointed by the County Board. **need info on how 
their paid leave is accumulated and used if different from regular full �me employees as under 
part one of this context “Employee” they are exempt 

 
 

ARTICLE 60.3 
SELECTION AND APPOINTMENT 

 
60-1-2.1 MERIT PRINCIPLES. It is the policy of Carroll County to hire the best qualified employees 
available for all jobs. It is also the policy to encourage a career service within the County by promo�ng 
present employees whenever possible to fill vacancies. Appointments and promo�ons to posi�ons in the 
County shall be based on merit and fitness. 
 

A. No part of an applica�on shall include ques�ons designed to reveal poli�cal or religious 
affilia�on, belief, na�onal origin, sexual orienta�on or race of any candidate. 



B. Applica�ons may include one or more of the following components: writen test, performance 
test, oral test, physical test, training evalua�on, experience evalua�on, and evalua�on for 
promo�on. 

C. 60-1-2.1-4 EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL. All new employees shall be required to have a physical 
exam and drug test conducted prior to beginning of employment. The physical exam and drug 
tes�ng expenses will be paid by Carroll County.  

 
60-1-2.1-1 METHODS OF FILLING VACANCIES. Department heads are responsible for the final 
selec�on and filling of authorized posi�ons within the departments. In order to provide control and to 
insure ensure that our objec�ve in Equal Employment Opportunity and all personnel system goals are 
met: 
 

A. Applicants hired for employment with Carroll County must meet the minimum qualifica�ons 
established in the approved job descrip�on and pass a required background check. The Sheriff's 
Department will be responsible for any applicable background checks. 

B. 60-1-2.1-3 RECRUITMENT OF NEW EMPLOYEES.  All vacancies and new posi�ons shall be 
filled on the basis of based on qualifica�on and without regard to race, color, religion, na�onal 
origin, ancestry, age, sex, sexual orienta�on, marital status, physical or mental handicap 
unrelated to ability, or unfavorable (except dishonorable) discharge from military service. 
 

C. All employees making decisions concerning recruitment shall be instructed that equal 
opportunity is to be afforded to all employees and applicants. 
 

D. First considera�on for filling all vacancies shall be given to qualified employees of Carroll County. 
 

E. No�fica�on of full and/or part-�me employment opportuni�es may be placed with area public 
employment agencies, a County newspaper, minority and community organiza�ons and, when 
appropriate, with state and na�onal minority organiza�ons and ins�tu�ons of higher educa�on 
to encourage the referral of qualified persons. 
 

F. All adver�sement for employment shall state that Carroll County is an Equal Opportunity 
Employer. 

 
 
60-1-2.1-5 SELECTION, PLACEMENT AND PROMOTION All selec�ons, placement and promo�on 
decisions shall be made without regard to race, color, religion, na�onal origin, ancestry, age, sex, sexual 
orienta�on, poli�cal affilia�on, marital status, physical, or mental handicap unrelated to ability, or 
unfavorable discharge (except dishonorable) from military service. 
 

A. All persons shall be considered and selected solely on the merit of their qualifica�ons for the 
posi�on for which they have applied. 

 
B. All employees making decisions concerning selec�ons, placement and promo�on shall be 

instructed that equal opportunity will be afforded to all persons. 
 

C. Any tes�ng instrument which may be used in the selec�on, placement and promo�on of an 
employee shall be fully job related, equitable and iden�cal for all persons seeking the posi�on. 

 



D. Applicants for posi�ons which involve driving a motor vehicle shall have their driving history 
considered. 
 

60-1-2.1-2 HIRING OF RELATIVES. Elected department officials and appointed department officials 
are requested not to hire an applicant for part-�me or full-�me employment whenever said department 
head or an intermediate supervisor is related by consanguinity to said applicant. Such rela�onship shall 
include, but not be limited to, husband, wife, parent, brother, sister, child, stepchild, son-in-law, 
daughter-in-law, mother-in-law and father-in-law. This employment policy shall not be retroac�ve to any 
full-�me employee currently on the Carroll County payroll at the �me of adop�on of this resolu�on by 
the County Board. 
 

 
ARTICLE 60.4 

 
ATTENDANCE  AND LEAVE  HOURS OF OPERATION, MEETINGS, AND TRAININGS 

 
60-1-3.1 HOURS OF WORK. 
Are stated in Sec�on 60-1-1.3-3. 
60-1-1.3-3 HOURS OF WORK- OPERATION AND BREAK PERIODS. 
 
The County office hours with the excep�on of the Sheriff's Office and County Highway Maintenance 
Garage, will be from 8:30 AM to 4:30 PM, with each employee being allowed one unpaid hour for lunch. 
The work week is Monday through Friday. 

A. Readjustments and special schedules will be worked out under special circumstances and shall 
be consistent with a basic work week and any exis�ng statutory regula�ons.  
1. A fi�een minute break may be taken each morning and a�ernoon, however, the employee 

may not leave the work facility during such periods of rest and can be called back to work at 
any�me. Each person involved in this break is responsible for clean-up and neatness of the 
area. 

 
B. Irregular work schedules are acceptable in appropriate situa�ons. 

 
 
60-1-3.1-1 MEETINGS AND LECTURES  Mee�ng, Lectures, and Training 
 
Opportunity will be given to personnel to atend conferences and mee�ngs which will assist in 
maintaining and improving their qualifica�ons. Authority to travel on County expenses to any mee�ng or 
conference must be obtained in advance from the County Board, or from the commitee whose 
responsibility is that office, if outside the State.  

A. 60-1-3.1-3 TRAINING All training decisions shall be made without regard to race, color, 
religion, na�onal origin, ancestry, age, sex, sexual orienta�on, marital status, physical or 
mental handicap unrelated to ability, or unfavorable discharge (except for dishonorable) 
from military service. All employees shall be encouraged to increase their skills and job 
poten�al through par�cipa�on in training and educa�onal programs. Conference seminars 
and workshops shall be u�lized to the maximum extent possible within budget and program 
restraints. 



B.  Registra�on fees and other expenses in connec�on with the conference will be allowed. The 
most economical mode of transporta�on must be taken. All persons authorized to travel on 
County business outside of the County shall be reimbursed for meals, lodging and mileage, 
in accordance with the County travel policy. Authority to travel on County expenses to any 
mee�ng or conference must be obtained in advance from the County Board, or from the 
commitee whose responsibility is that office, if outside the State. 

 
C. 60-1-3.1-2 PERSONAL CARS USED FOR COUNTY BUSINESS- MILEAGE COMPENSATION 

Personnel using personal cars for County business shall be compensated for such. The per 
mile rate is set by the County Board and will be modified as and when economic and other 
condi�ons indicate a need for revision. Personnel driving personal cars shall report all 
accidents incurred while on duty to the department head. All personal vehicles being driven 
for County business must be adequately covered by personal liability and property damage 
insurance within limits, as set by the State, by the owner. Evidence of insurance must be 
furnished to the States Atorney Commitee. In the event of an accident while on County 
business, the deduc�ble amount of the policy will be paid by the County if the driver is 
assessed this fee. 

 

D. For more details on travel for the county see the County’s ordinance Travel Regula�ons 
located a�er this Code.  

 

ARTICLE 60.5 
HOLIDAYS AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

For full-�me employees, paid leave details are below. For all other employees paid leave will be based 
on hours worked to account for paid �me.  

 
60-1-4.1 HOLIDAYS- STATE AND FEDERAL 
 
The Carroll County Board shall adopt annually the holiday schedule. A copy of the schedule shall be sent 
to each department head. 
 
60-1-4.2 VACATION 
 
  A specific number of hours and minutes will be earned each month as vaca�on �me by full �me 
employees of Carroll County or part-�me employees of Carroll County having worked a minimum of 
1,000 hours  and other qualified employees. per Sec�on 60-1-1.6. It is the intended policy of Carroll 
County that all newly hired personnel by the County  

A. All vaca�on �me must have prior approval from the employee's supervisor. 
B. Qualified employees must have completed at least one year of service before they can use 

accrued vaca�on �me. Addi�onally,  
C. A�er the one year employment anniversary, earned vaca�on may be taken in hourly 

increments.  
 

D. a�er the one year employment anniversary date of employment, employees can only carry 
over one (1) week or 35 hours of unused vaca�on into the next anniversary year.  



E. All vaca�on hours accrued in excess of 35 hours and not taken will be forfeited. A�er the one 
year employment anniversary, earned vaca�on may be taken in hourly increments. All 
vaca�on �me must have prior approval from the employee's supervisor.  

F. Employees will not be allowed to use vaca�on hours they have not earned and, therefore, 
may not have a nega�ve balance of vaca�on hours. 

G.  If an employee leaves the employment of Carroll County, he/she will be paid for the hours 
of earned vaca�on. 

H. It is the responsibility of each department head or their designee to keep permanent records 
of vaca�on �me earned and taken so there will be no ques�on as to the amount of 
accumulated �me earned or taken. 

 
 
 
 
Vaca�on �me will be earned at the following rates: ****need to check carpenter’s union accrual for 
guidance  as it has changed***** 

A. Personnel with more than one year and less than 6 years of con�nuous credited service 
will accrue 10 working days or 70 hours per year computed at the rate of 5.83 hours per 
month. 

B.  Personnel with more 7 and less than 10 years of con�nuous credited service will accrue 
13 working days or 91 hours per year computed at the rate of 7.58 hours per month.  

C. Personnel with more than 10 and less than 15 years of con�nuous credited service will 
accrue 15 working days or 105 hours per year computed at a rate of 8.75 hours per 
month.  

D. Personnel with more than 15 years of con�nuous credited service will accrue 20 working 
days or 140 hours per year computed at the rate of 11.66 hours per month. 

 
60-1-4.3 SICK LEAVE 
The provision for sick leave is essen�ally a privilege and is not considered as earned leave. Evidence of 
abuse of this privilege may result in disciplinary ac�on up to and including discharge. 

A. Sick leave is graded at the rate of seven (7) hours or one sick day per month accumula�ve. In 
order for an employee to earn the 7 hours of sick leave per month, 

B.  the employee must be present at work for at least 15 working days of that month to earn the 7 
hours of sick leave per month.  

C. Department heads may require medical cer�fica�on of illness signed by a physician. All sick �me 
must be approved by department heads and may be taken as follows: 

1. In hourly increments. 
2. For personal illness. 
3. For the illness of an immediate family member who requires the 

employee's personal care and aten�on. 
4. Enforced quaran�ne. 
5. Accumulated sick leave may be taken as a result of pregnancy and child 

birth or in the case of adop�on.  
• The normal amount of sick leave taken in such instances will be six 

weeks. However, this period of �me may be extended on advice 
of the atending physician or with the approval of the department 
head . 



6. On-the-job injuries. 
• Any employee who sustains injury on the job shall have the op�on 

to use his sick leave and/or vaca�on �me, thereby extending his 
period of en�tlement to full pay. 

• Employees who sustain on the job injuries shall be en�tled to 
benefits under the Workman's Compensa�on Act. In order to 
receive these benefits, injured employees shall report the injury 
without delay to their immediate supervisor, along with the 
director, and fill out an injury report. 

• The employee shall have the op�on to apply for disability 
compensa�on under the terms of the Illinois Municipal 
Re�rement Fund if they are covered there or under any other 
pension fund where applicable. 

• While the employee is receiving full pay from the county, any 
payments for lost �me that are an obliga�on of Workman's 
compensa�on or any other insurance carried by the county, 
including I.M.R.F. payments, shall be turned over to the County.  

• Payments for lost �me for injury that are made by the insurance 
company a�er the County ceases to pay any compensa�on to the 
employee shall go directly to the employee, as well as any 
setlement for par�al or permanent disability. 

 
60-1-4.4 EXCUSED AND UNEXCUSED ABSENCES. 

 
A. Family related absenteeism. Other than �me off per Sec�on 60-1-4.3-C shall be chargeable to 

vaca�on �me earned. In every case, the department head should be no�fied prior to the 
absenteeism. 

 
B. Jury Duty. In the case of employees who have been called for jury service, the employee shall be 

paid full compensa�on for the period of jury service, provided the employee goes to the office 
and works during those office hours his services are not required in court. An employee MUST 
return the jury pay he receives, which is subsequently deposited in the General Fund. 

 
C. Witness. An employee subpoenaed to serve as witness is paid for �me lost, but must return to 

work when service is not requested. The employee MUST return the fee, which is returned to 
the General Fund. 

 
D. Weddings. Not an excused absence, employee must use vaca�on �me. 

 
E. Family and Medical Leave Act. Carroll County will adhere to the Federal Family Leave Act. 

 
F. Personal Leave of Absence. A personal leave of absence may be granted in addi�on to the 

absence for disability. A personal leave is an UNPAID leave up to a maximum of two months. 
 

G. Unpaid Absence. Unpaid absences shall be allowed at the discre�on of the department head.  
 

H. Return to Work. Any Employee should give the department head two weeks no�ce of their 
inten�on to return to work. They must have a statement from their physician that they are 



physically able to return to work. Upon return to work, they will return to their former posi�on 
or one similar to it at their former rate of pay. Vaca�on, sick leave, and other rights will be 
reinstated upon return to work. 

 
I. Termina�on. Voluntary Quit / Termina�on. Any employee will be terminated as a voluntary quit 

if they do not return to work when cer�fied by their physician, unless other arrangements have 
been made. The termina�on date will be the last day the employee worked.  

1. If employee fails to also communicate with supervisor for a consecu�ve number of days 
of their absence or does not show up without reason to work for 3 days this will be a 
result of a voluntary quit.  The termina�on date will be the last day the employee 
worked. 

J. Funerals. Time will be allowed for the atendance at a funeral of one's immediate family, which 
would include: mother, father, husband, wife, children, brother, sister, mother-in-law, father-in-
law, and grandparents. The maximum allowance will be four working days. Extenua�ng 
circumstances concerning funerals may be considered by department head. *need to men�on if 
automa�cally paid for or if “paid �me off hours” need to be used** 

K. Maternity leave: Accumulated sick leave may be taken as a result of pregnancy and child birth or 
in the case of adop�on. The normal amount of sick leave taken in such instances will be six 
weeks. However, this period of �me may be extended on advice of the atending physician or 
with the approval of the department head .  IMRF disability can be u�lized when necessary if 
accumulated leave does not cover the full 6 weeks or longer.  

 
60-1-4.4-1 BENEFITS  INSURANCE WHILE ON LEAVE.  
 
An employee who is on approved unpaid leave of absence shall have the right to maintain insurance 
coverage by paying monthly in advance the full applicable monthly premium for employee coverage and 
if desired, for dependent coverage. 
 
60-1-4.5 MILITARY LEAVE. 
 

A. Eligibility. A full-�me, permanent employee who is a member of the Na�onal Guard or Federal 
Reserve. 

B. Weekly Military Drill including Na�onal Guard. Permission to be absent WITHOUT pay will be 
granted for necessary hours. 

C. Annual Training Camps. (Ready Reserve, Na�onal Guard, etc.) The County will grant a leave of 
absence for encampment.  

1. An employee atending an annual training encampment will receive supplemental pay 
for two weeks. 

2.  The amount of supplemental pay will be the difference between the employee's regular 
pay (base rate) and the total military en�tlements for the 14 day period.  

3. The employee may elect to schedule vaca�on days during this period.  
4. The employee will receive the supplemental pay in addi�on to payment for vaca�on. 
5. There shall be no supplemental pay for any other form or period of training. 

D. Emergency Duty Call by the Governor for Na�onal Guard. (floods, riots, strikes, and the like) An 
employee will be given a leave of absence. Full salary will be paid. 

 
 
 



 
ARTICLE 60.6 

MISCELLANEOUS BENEFITS AND ENTITLEMENTS 
 
  
60-1-5.1 GROUP HOSPITAL INSURANCE. 
Each employee who contributes to I.M.R.F. and works 30 hours per week is eligible to enroll in the 
Hospital and Medical Insurance Plan. Any employee who is ineligible for I.M.R.F. because of age is 
covered by the Hospital and Medical Insurance Plan. Any part �me employee eligible under sec�on 60-1-
1.6 A(4) is eligible to enroll in the plan at their own costs.  
 
Employees shall be eligible for the Hospital and Medical Insurance Plan on the first day of the month 
following comple�on of 30 days of full-�me employment. 
Each employee who is covered may include his family in the group plan by paying the addi�onal 
premiums as a payroll deduc�on. The members of a family so covered do not have the life insurance 
coverage of the policy. All employees and family members, if covered, receive equal hospital and medical 
benefits.    
 
60-1-5.2 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN. 
 

A. The County is a par�cipa�ng member of the Illinois Municipal Re�rement Fund (I.M.R.F.). 60-1-
5.2-1 COVERAGE. The I.M.R.F. covers the following employees: 
1. Employees who occupy a job normally requiring 1,000 hours or more per year.  
2. Employees who are paid on a regular payroll from County Funds. 
3. Employees who were under 60 when first entering employment. 
4. Employees who are not covered by another state-created re�rement system for the same 

service. 
 

B. Employees not qualifying under "A" are considered as "non-par�cipa�ng employees" and are 
covered under Social Security. 

 
60-1-5.2-2 CONTRIBUTIONS.   C. Contribu�ons 
 
Every employee working in a posi�on which requires 1,000 hours or more per year is required by law to 
become a par�cipa�ng member of the 1.M.R.F. Every such employee contributes as a payroll deduc�on 
a percentage of-his gross wage to the fund. This contribu�on covers both re�rement and Social Security. 
The County is also required by law to contribute to the Re�rement Fund and Social Security. 
 
60-1-5.2-3 METHOD OF CONTRIBUTION.  D. Method Of Contribu�on 
  
Employee contribu�ons to the I.M.R.F. shall be paid by the County Board on behalf of all of the 
employees enrolled in the fund. Payment shall be made by reducing the amount of gross earnings 
payable to the employees by the amount of the contribu�ons and making payment of this amount 
directly to the Fund. Payment of the employee contribu�ons provided shall be effec�ve for all 
compensa�on paid by employees. 
 
60-1-5.2-4 BENEFITS.EARNED PENSION   
 



A pension is earned with eight or more years of service. A death benefit is earned with one or more 
years of service. All contribu�ons made by the employee to the Fund (except Social Security 
contribu�ons) are refundable to any employee who discon�nues  employment with less than eight years 
of service. The Services Commitee will atempt to answer any ques�ons employees may have 
concerning the re�rement program. 
 
 

ARTICLE 60.7 
ON-THE-JOB BEHAVIOR 

 
I. 60-1-1.2-2.1 SEXUAL HARASSMENT  

 
The Carroll County is commited to providing a workplace that is free from all forms of discrimina�on, 
including sexual harassment. Any employee's behavior that fits the defini�on of sexual harassment is a 
form of misconduct which may result in disciplinary ac�on up to and including dismissal. Sexual 
harassment could also subject this Carroll County and, in some cases, an individual to substan�al civil 
penal�es. 
The Carroll County's policy on sexual harassment is part of its overall affirma�ve ac�on efforts pursuant 
to federal and state laws prohibi�ng discrimina�on based on age, race, color, religion, na�onal origin, 
ci�zenship status, unfavorable discharge from the military, marital status, disability, and gender. 
Specifically, sexual harassment is prohibited by Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the Illinois 
Human Rights Act. 
Each employee of this Carroll County must refrain from sexual harassment in the workplace. No 
employee - male or female - should be subjected to unsolicited or unwelcome sexual overtures or 
conduct in the workplace. Furthermore, it is the responsibility of all supervisors and managers to make 
sure that the work environment is free from sexual harassment. All forms of discrimina�on and conduct 
which can be considered harassing, coercive, or disrup�ve, or which create a hos�le or offensive 
environment must be eliminated.  Instances of sexual harassment must be inves�gated in a prompt and 
effec�ve manner. 
 
All employees of this Carroll County, par�cularly those in a supervisory or management capacity, are 
expected to become familiar with the contents of this policy and to abide by the requirements it 
establishes. 
 
Defini�ons. 

A. "Employee" means a person employed by the Carroll County, whether on a full�me or part-
�me basis or pursuant to a contract, whose du�es are subject to the direc�on and control of 
an employer regarding the material details of how the work is to be performed but does not 
include an independent contractor. 

B. "Employer" means Carroll County. 
C. "Officer" means a person who holds, by elec�on or appointment, an office in Carroll County, 

regardless of whether the officer is compensated for service in his or her official capacity. 
D. "Sexual Harassment" means any unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors or 

any conduct of a sexual nature when: 
1.  Submission to such conduct is made, either explicitly or implicitly, a term or condi�on of 

an individual's employment. 
2. Submission to or rejec�on of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for 

employment decisions affec�ng such individual; or 



3. Such conduct has the purpose or effect of substan�ally interfering with an individual’s 
work performance or crea�ng an in�mida�ng, hos�le, or offensive working 
environment. The courts have determined that sexual harassment is a form of 
discrimina�on under Title VII of the U.S. Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended in 1991. 

E. "Working environment" is not limited to a physical loca�on an employee is assigned to 
perform his or her du�es. 

 
60-1-1.2-2.2 Prohibi�on on Sexual Harassment. 
 

A. Each Employee and officer of Employer has the responsibility to refrain from sexual harassment 
in the workplace and is prohibited from engaging in conduct that cons�tutes sexual harassment. 

B. Conduct which may cons�tute sexual harassment includes: 
1. Verbal: sexual innuendos, sugges�ve comments, insults, humor, and jokes about sex, 

anatomy or gender-specific traits, sexual proposi�ons, threats, repeated requests for dates, 
or statements about other employees, even outside of their presence, of a sexual nature. 

2. Non-verbal: sugges�ve or insul�ng sounds (whistling), leering, obscene gestures, sexually 
sugges�ve bodily gestures, "catcalls", "smacking" or "kissing" noises. 

3. Visual: posters, signs, pin-ups or slogans of a sexual nature, viewing pornographic material or 
websites. 

4. Physical: touching, unwelcome hugging or kissing, pinching, brushing the body, any coerced 
sexual act or actual assault. 

5. Textual/Electronic: "sex�ng" (electronically sending messages with sexual content, including 
pictures and video), the use of sexually explicit language, harassment, cyber stalking and 
threats via all forms of electronic communica�on (e-mail, text/picture/video messages, 
intranet/on-line pos�ngs, biogs, instant messages and social network websites like Facebook 
and Twiter). 

C. The most severe and overt forms of sexual harassment are easier to determine. On the other 
end of the spectrum, some sexual harassment is subtler and depends, to some extent, on 
individual percep�on and interpreta�on. The courts will assess sexual harassment by a standard 
of what would offend a "reasonable person." 
1. While the most commonly recognized forms of sexual harassment involve the types of 

conduct described above, non-sexual conduct can also cons�tute a viola�on of the 
applicable laws when that conduct is directed at the vic�m because of his or her gender (for 
example, a female employee who reports to work every day and finds her tools stolen, her 
work sta�on filled with trash and her equipment disabled by her male co- workers because 
they resent having to work with a woman). 

2. The most severe and overt forms of sexual harassment are easier to determine. On the other 
end of the spectrum, some sexual harassment is more subtle and depends, to some extent, 
on individual percep�on and interpreta�on. The courts will assess sexual harassment by a 
standard of what would offend a "reasonable person." 

3. For this reason, every manager, supervisor and employee must remember that seemingly 
"harmless" and subtle ac�ons may lead to sexual harassment complaints. The use of terms 
such as "honey", "darling" and "sweetheart" is objec�onable to many women who believe 
that these terms undermine their authority and their ability to deal with men on an equal 
and professional level. And while use of these terms by an individual with authority over a 
female employee will rarely cons�tute an adverse employment ac�on, it may lead to the 
crea�on of a hos�le work environment. 



4. Another example is the use of a compliment that could poten�ally be interpreted as sexual 
in nature. Below are three statements that might be made about the appearance of a 
woman in the workplace: 

-"That's an atrac�ve dress you have on." 
-"That's an atrac�ve dress. It really looks good on you."  
-"That's an atrac�ve dress. You really fill it out well." 

 
The first statement appears to be simply a compliment. The last is the most likely to be perceived as 
sexual harassment, depending on individual percep�ons and values. To avoid the possibility of offending 
an employee, it is best to follow a course of conduct above reproach or to err on the side of cau�on. 
Sexual harassment is unacceptable misconduct, which affects both genders. Sexual harassment will o�en 
involve a man's conduct directed at a woman. However, it can also involve a woman harassing a man or 
harassment between members of the same gender. 
 

D. RESPONSIBILITY OF INDIVIDUAL EMPLOYEES 
Each individual employee has the responsibility to refrain from sexual harassment in the 
workplace. 
An individual employee who sexually harasses a fellow worker is, of course, liable for his or her 
individual conduct. 
The harassing employee will be subject to disciplinary ac�on up to and including discharge in 
accordance with company policy or any applicable collec�ve bargaining agreement, as 
appropriate. 

 
E. RESPONSIBILITY OF SUPERVISORY PERSONNEL 

Each supervisor is responsible for maintaining the workplace free of sexual harassment. This is 
accomplished by promo�ng a professional environment and by dealing with sexual harassment 
as with all other forms of employee misconduct. It must be remembered that supervisors are 
the first line of defense against sexual harassment. By se�ng the right example, a supervisor 
may discourage his or her employees  from ac�ng inappropriately. In addi�on, supervisors will 
o�en be the first to spot objec�onable conduct or the first to receive a complaint about conduct 
which he or she did not observe. 
 
The courts and the Illinois Human Rights Commission have found that organiza�ons as well as 
supervisors can be held liable for damages related to sexual harassment by a manager, 
supervisor, employee, or third party (an individual who is not an employee but does business 
with an organiza�on, such as a contractor, customer, sales, representa�ve, or repair person). 
 
Liability is either based on an organiza�on's responsibility to maintain a certain level of order 
and discipline among employees, or on the supervisor, ac�ng as an agent of the organiza�on. It 
should be noted that recent United States Supreme Court cases involving sexual harassment 
claims against supervisors have made the employer's liability for supervisors' ac�ons even 
stricter. Therefore, supervisors must understand that their adherence to this policy is vitally 
important; both with regard to their responsibility to maintain a work environment free of 
harassment and, even more importantly, with regard to their own individual conduct. The law 
con�nues to require employers to remain vigilant and effec�vely remedy sexually harassing 
conduct perpetrated by individual(s) on their coworkers. Supervisors must act quickly and 
responsibly not only to minimize their own liability but also that of the company. 



Specifically, a supervisor must address an observed incident of sexual harassment or a 
complaint, with equal seriousness, report it, take prompt ac�on to inves�gate it, implement 
appropriate disciplinary ac�on, take all necessary steps to eliminate the harassment and observe 
strict confiden�ality. This also applies to cases where an employee tells the supervisor about 
behavior considered sexual harassment but does not want to make a formal complaint. 
 
Also, supervisors must ensure that no retalia�on will result against an employee making a sexual 
harassment complaint. 
 
Furthermore, managers/supervisors should remind employees, on a regular basis, that their 
incoming and outgoing electronic messages on employer owned/issued equipment are subject 
to monitoring and that employees have no expecta�on of privacy on employer owned/issued 
electronic equipment. Inform employees that if they are subjected to inappropriate electronic 
communica�ons while at work or on employer- owned equipment, or even on their personal cell 
phones and computers, that they should contact their supervisor or Human Resources 
immediately. Advise managers, supervisors, and employees not to ''friend" each other on social 
networks and to limit their electronic messages to relevant business maters. Inves�gate 
complaints on a case-by case basis and remind employees of the company's code of conduct and 
ethics rules if applicable. 

 
60-1-1.2-2.3 Repor�ng an Allega�on of Sexual Harassment 

A. An employee who either observes or believes herself/himself to be the object of sexual 
harassment should deal with the incident(s) as directly and firmly as possible by clearly 
communica�ng her/his posi�on to the offending employee and her/his supervisor, or to the 
County Administrator. 
 

B. It is not necessary for sexual harassment to be directed at the person making a complaint. 
 

C. During the occurrence of an incident of sexual harassment or following repor�ng, the Employer 
may document or record each incident. (what was said or done, the date, the �me, and the 
place). Addi�onally, the Employer may collect and/or compile related writen records such as 
leters, notes, memos, electronic messages, and telephone messages. 

 
D. All charges, including anonymous complaints, will be accepted and inves�gated regardless of 

how the mater comes to the aten�on of the Employer. However, because of the serious 
implica�ons of sexual harassment charges and the difficul�es associated with their inves�ga�on 
and the ques�ons of credibility involved, the claimant's willing coopera�on is a vital component 
of an effec�ve inquiry and an appropriate outcome. 
 

E. Proper methods of repor�ng conduct believed to be sexual harassment include the following: 
1. Electronic/Direct Communica�on. If there is sexual harassing behavior in the workplace, the 

harassed employee should directly and clearly express her/his objec�on that the conduct is 
unwelcome and request that the offending behavior stop. The ini�al message may be verbal. 
If subsequent messages are needed, they should be put in wri�ng in a note or a memo. 

2. Contact with Supervisory Personnel. At the same �me direct communica�on is undertaken,  
or in the event the employee feels threatened or in�midated by the situa�on, the problem 
must be promptly reported to the immediate supervisor or the County Administrator. If the 



harasser is the immediate supervisor; the problem should be reported to the next level of 
supervision or the County Administrator. 

3. Formal Writen Complaint. An employee may also report incidents of sexual harassment 
directly to the County Administrator. The County Administrator will counsel the repor�ng 
employee and be available to assist with filing a formal complaint. The Employer will fully 
inves�gate the complaint and advise the complainant and the alleged harasser of the results 
of the inves�ga�on. 

4. Resolu�on Outside Employer. The purpose of this policy is to establish prompt, thorough and 
effec�ve procedures for responding to every complaint and incident so that problems can be 
iden�fied and remedied internally. However, an employee has the right to contact the Illinois 
Department of Human Rights (IDHR) or the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 
(EEOC) about filing a formal complaint with those en��es. An IDHR complaint must be filed 
within 180 days of the alleged incident(s) unless it is a con�nuing offense. A complaint with 
the EEOC must be filed within 300 days. In addi�on, an appeal process is available through 
the Illinois Human Rights Commission, (IHRC) a�er IDHR has completed its inves�ga�on of 
the complaint. Where the employing en�ty has an effec�ve sexual harassment policy in 
place and the complaining employee fails to take advantage of that policy and allow the 
employer an opportunity to address the problem, such an employee may, in certain cases, 
lose the right to further pursue the claim against the employer. 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE CONTACTS 
 
Illinois Department of Human Rights (IDHR) Chicago: 312-814-6200 or 800-662-3942 
Chicago TTY: 866-740-3953 
Springfield: 217-785-5100 
Springfield TTY: 866-740-3953 
Marion: 618-993-7463 
Marion TTY: 866-740-3953 
 
Illinois Human Rights Commission (IHRC) Chicago: 312-814-6269 
Chicago TTY: 312-814-4760 
Springfield: 217-785-4350 
Springfield TTY: 217-557-1500 
 
United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) Chicago: 800-669-4000 Chicago TTY: 
800-869-8001 
 

F. All reports shall be received and handled as confiden�al to the extent permited by law and 
subject to any disclosure requirements pursuant to the Illinois Freedom of Informa�on Act (5 
ILCS 140/1 et seq.). 

G. The employee experiencing what he or she believes to be sexual harassment must not assume 
that the Employer is aware of the conduct. If there are no witnesses and the vic�m fails to no�fy 
a supervisor or other responsible officer, the Employer will not be presumed to have knowledge 
of the harassment. 

 
60-1-1.2-2.4 Prohibi�on Against Retalia�on for Repor�ng Sexual Harassment 

A. An Employee shall not be retaliated against by the Employer or the Employees or Officers of the 
Employer due to the Employee's: 



1. Disclosure or threatened disclosure of any viola�on of this policy, 
2. The provision of informa�on related to or tes�mony before any public body conduc�ng an 

inves�ga�on, hearing or inquiry into any viola�on of this policy, or  
3. assistance or par�cipa�on in a proceeding to enforce the provisions of this policy. 

 
B. No individual making a report will be retaliated against even if a report made in good faith is not 

substan�ated. 
C. The Employer will take reasonable steps to protect from retalia�on any Employee or Officer who 

is a witness. 
D. Supervisors must ensure that no retalia�on will result against an employee making a sexual 

harassment complaint. 
E. Similar to the prohibi�on against retalia�on contained herein, the State Officials and Employees 

Ethics Act (5 ILCS 430/15-10) provides whistleblower protec�on from retaliatory ac�on such as 
reprimand, discharge, suspension, demo�on, or denial of promo�on or transfer that occurs in 
retalia�on for an employee who does any of the following: 
1. Discloses or threatens to disclose to a supervisor or to a public body an ac�vity, policy, or 

prac�ce of any officer, member, State agency, or other State  employee that the State 
employee reasonably believes is in viola�on of a law, rule, or regula�on, 

2. Provides informa�on to or tes�fies before any public body conduc�ng an inves�ga�on, 
hearing, or inquiry into any viola�on of a law, rule, or regula�on by any officer, member, 
State agency or other State employee, or 

3. Assists or par�cipates in a proceeding to enforce the provisions of the State Officials and 
Employees Ethics Act. 

F. Pursuant to the Whistleblower Act (740 ILCS 174/15(a)), an employer may not retaliate against 
an employee who discloses informa�on in a court, an administra�ve hearing, or before a 
legisla�ve commission or commitee, or in any other proceeding, where the employee has 
reasonable cause to believe that the informa�on discloses a viola�on of a State or federal law, 
rule, or regula�on. In addi�on, an employer may not retaliate against an employee for disclosing 
informa�on to a government or law enforcement agency, where the employee has reasonable 
cause to believe that the informa�on discloses a viola�on of a State or federal law, rule, or 
regula�on. (740 ILCS 174/15(b)). 

G. According to the Illinois Human Rights Act (775 ILCS 5/6-101), it is a civil rights viola�on for a 
person, or for two or more people to conspire, to retaliate against a person because he/she has 
opposed that which he/she reasonably and in good faith believes to be sexual harassment in 
employment, because he/she has made a charge, filed a complaint, tes�fied, assisted, or 
par�cipated in an inves�ga�on, proceeding, or hearing under the Illinois Human Rights Act. 

H. An employee who is suddenly transferred to a lower paying job or passed over for a promo�on 
a�er filing a complaint with IDHR or EEOC, may file a retalia�on charge -  due within 180 days 
(IDHR) or 300 days (EEOC) of the alleged retalia�on. 

 
60-1-1.2-2.5 Consequences 

A. In addi�on to any and all other discipline that may be applicable pursuant to the Employer's 
policies, employment agreements, procedures, employee handbooks and/or collec�ve 
bargaining agreement, any person who violates this policy or the Prohibi�on on Sexual 
Harassment contained in 5 ILCS 430/5-65, may be subject to a fine of up to $5,000 per offense, 
applicable discipline or discharge by the Employer and any applicable fines and penal�es 
established pursuant to local ordinance, State law or Federal law. Each viola�on may cons�tute a 
separate offense. Any discipline imposed by the Employer shall be separate and dis�nct from any 



penalty imposed by any ethics commission and any fines or penal�es imposed by a court of law 
or a State or Federal agency. 

B. False and frivolous charges refer to cases where the accuser is using a sexual harassment 
complaint to accomplish some end other than stopping sexual harassment. It does not refer to 
charges made in good faith which cannot be proven. A false and frivolous charge is a severe 
offense that can itself result in disciplinary ac�on. Any person who inten�onally makes a false 
report alleging a viola�on of any provision of this policy shall be subject to discipline or discharge 
pursuant to applicable COUNTY policies, employment agreements, procedures, employee 
handbooks and/or collec�ve bargaining agreements. 

C. Any person who inten�onally makes a false report alleging a viola�on of any provision of the 
State Officials and Employees Ethics Act to an ethics commission, an inspector general, the State 
Police, a State's Atorney, the Atorney General, or any other law enforcement official is guilty of 
a Class A misdemeanor. An ethics commission may levy an administra�ve fine of up to $5,000 
against any person who inten�onally makes a false, frivolous or bad faith allega�on. 

 
 
II. 60-1-5.3 SAFETY RESPONSIBILITIES.  
 
It is the inten�on of Carroll County to provide a safe and healthy working environment for all employees. 
In keeping with the policy, the following du�es will be enforced: 
 

A. 60-1-5.3-1 Department Head/Supervisor/Foreman Assume Full responsibility for safe and 
healthy working condi�ons for all employees. 

1. Ensure that all management policies herein are fully implemented for maximum 
efficiency of each job. 

2. Take the ini�a�ve in recommending correc�ons of deficiencies noted in facili�es and 
work procedures that affect County loss control efforts. 

3. Be firm in enforcement of work policies by being impar�al in taking disciplinary 
ac�on against those who fail to conform and by being prompt to give recogni�on to 
those who perform well. 

4. Ensure that each employee is fully trained for the job assigned and that the 
employee is familiar with published work rules. 

 
B. 60-1-5.3-2 Employee 

 
Each Employee shall be fully responsible for implemen�ng the provisions of the safety program as it 
pertains to opera�ons. The responsibili�es listed are minimal, and they shall in no way be construed to 
limit individual hazards. 

A. All unsafe condi�ons are to be reported to the immediate supervisor. 
B. Keep work areas clean and orderly at all �mes. 
C. Report all accidents immediately to the supervisor. 
D. Avoid engaging in any horseplay, and avoid distrac�ng others. 
E. Learn to li� and handle material properly. Each employee working at a hazardous job shall in 

addi�on: 
1. Obey all safety rules and follow published work instruc�ons. If any doubt exists about 

the safety of doing a job, stop and get instruc�ons from the supervisor before con�nuing 
work. 

2. Only operate equipment that has been authorized by the supervisor.  



3. Use only the prescribed equipment for the job and handle it properly. 
4. Wear required protec�ve equipment when working in hazardous opera�ons area. Dress 

safely and sensibly. 
5. Take an ac�ve part in the safety program. 

 
60-1-6.1 GENERAL RULES OF CONDUCT. 
 
It is the purpose of this policy to atempt to provide a framework for the proper conduct of county 
employees while on the job. It is further intended that discipline, where jus�fied, be meted out in an 
equitable and imagina�ve manner. Finally, it is intended that within very broad and general guidelines, 
department heads and authorized supervisors are responsible for the implementa�on of this policy 
within their specific jurisdic�onal work area. 
 

A. Work supervisors or department heads should be certain that new employees are aware of 
exis�ng work rules. This should be done during the employee's ini�al orienta�on and should be 
repeated at the end of the proba�onary period. 

B. Employees will be provided with a personnel ordinance which will discuss all inappropriate 
working behavior. In addi�on, department heads or supervisors will discuss departmental rules 
with new employees and periodically with all employees as the need arises. 

C. Employees are expected to follow the regula�ons set forth in the personnel rules and direc�ons 
of their supervisor. When an employee fails to follow these rules or disobeys the supervisor, that 
employee becomes subject to disciplinary ac�on. Causes for reprimand, writen or verbal, 
demo�on, suspension, or dismissal include, but are not limited to the following reasons:  

1. Repeated tardiness. 
2. Leaving duty prior to the end of the assigned shi�. 
3. Failure to complete du�es as assigned. 
4. Failure to request leave in the authorized manner. 
5. Abuse of leave. 
6. Failure to report absence in the authorized manner. 
7. Discourtesy or disrespect to a member of the public or a County Official.  
8. Any safety viola�on. 

 
While this list is not comprehensive, it is sufficient to demonstrate the types of behavior that may 
indicate an improper a�tude toward the job. 
 
60-1-6.1-1 Serious Viola�ons. 
 Certain viola�ons of rules are more serious than others. An employee may be immediately terminated 
for any of the following reasons: 

A. Intoxica�on while on duty from alcohol or other substance. 
B. Carrying a firearm other than by authorized personnel. 
C. Failure to follow specific order by a supervisor. 
D. Willful destruc�on of County property and/or public records. 
E. The� of County property and/or public records. 
F. Figh�ng with or assault upon fellow employees or supervisors. 
G. Willful misrepresenta�on or concealment of any fact requested during hiring process. 
H. Harassment/Sexual Harassment. 
I. Gross misconduct other than items listed above. 
J. Upon convic�on of a felony. 



 
III. 60-1-6.7 CONFIDENTIALITY AND LOYALTY. 
 
All employees are prohibited from directly or indirectly using or allowing the use of official informa�on 
obtained through, or in connec�on with, employment with the County which has not been made 
available to the general public, for the furtherance of any private interest. Viola�on of this principle is a 
serious mater and will result in immediate disciplinary ac�on as outlined in sec�ons 60-1-6.2, 60-1-6.3 
and 60-1-6.4. 
 
IV..60-1-6.1-2 ZERO TOLERANCE DRUG AND ALCOHOL-FREE WORKPLACE 
 
Carroll County has a longstanding commitment to provide a safe and produc�ve work environment. 
Alcohol and drug use and abuse pose a threat to the health and safety of employees and to the security 
of our equipment and facili�es. For these reasons, Carroll County is commited to the elimina�on of drug 
and/or alcohol use and abuse in the workplace through the adop�on of a zero-tolerance drug and 
alcohol workplace policy. 
 
This policy outlines the prac�ce and procedure designed to correct instances of iden�fied alcohol and/or 
drug use in the workplace. This policy applies to all employees and all applicants for employment of 
Carroll County. 
 
60-1-6.1-3 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE AND DRUG-FREE AWARENESS 
 

A. Illegal drug use, drug abuse and alcohol misuse have several adverse health and safety 
consequences, informa�on about those consequences and sources of help for drug/alcohol 
problems is available from the County Administrator, who has been trained to make referrals and 
assist employees with drug/alcohol problems. Carroll County will assist and support employees 
who voluntarily seek help for such problems before becoming subject to discipline and/or 
termina�on under this or other policies. Such employees may be allowed to: 
1.  use accrued paid �me off,  
2. placed on leaves of absence,  
3. referred to treatment providers and otherwise accommodated as required by law. 
4.  Such employees may be required to document that they are successfully following 

prescribed treatment and to take and pass follow-up tests if they hold jobs that are safety 
sensi�ve or that require driving or if they have violated this policy previously. 

 
B. Employees should report to work fit for duty and free of any adverse effects of illegal drugs, 

drugs or alcohol. This policy does not prohibit employees from the lawful use and possession or 
prescribed medica�ons, including medicinal cannabis. Employees must, however, consult with 
their doctors about the medica�ons' effects on their fitness for duty and ability to work safely 
and promptly disclose any work restric�ons to their supervisor. Employees should not, however, 
disclose underlying medical condi�ons unless directed to do so. 

 
A. Employee Assistance and Drug-Free Awareness    Repeated 
 
Illegal drug use, drug abuse and alcohol misuse have several adverse health and safety consequences, 
informa�on about those consequences and sources of help for drug/alcohol problems is available from 



the County Administrator, who has been trained to make referrals and assist employees with 
drug/alcohol problems. 
 
Carroll County will assist and support employees who voluntarily seek help for such problems before 
becoming subject to discipline and/or termina�on under this or other policies. Such employees may be 
allowed to use accrued paid �me off, placed on leaves of absence, referred to treatment providers and 
otherwise accommodated as required by law. Such employees may be required to document that they 
are successfully following prescribed treatment and to take and pass follow-up tests if they hold jobs 
that are safety sensi�ve or that require driving or if they have violated this policy previously. 
 
Employees should report to work fit for duty and free of any adverse effects of illegal drugs, drugs or 
alcohol. This policy does not prohibit employees from the lawful use and possession or prescribed 
medica�ons, including medicinal cannabis. Employees must, however, consult with their doctors about 
the medica�ons' effects on their fitness for duty and ability to work safely and promptly disclose any 
work restric�ons to their supervisor. Employees should not, however, disclose underlying medical 
condi�ons unless directed to do so. 
 

C. Work Rules -- The following work rules apply to all employees. Whenever employees are 
working, are opera�ng any Carroll County vehicle, are present on county premises, are on-call, 
or are conduc�ng related work off-site, they are prohibited from:  
1. using, possessing, buying, selling, manufacturing or dispensing any illegal drug 
2. being under the influence of alcohol, cannabis or any illegal drug as defined in this policy 
3. smoke, consume, store or otherwise use cannabis in the workplace 
4. being under the influence of prescribed medica�ons that adversely affect the employee's 

ability to safely and effec�vely perform their job du�es. 
 

D. The presence of any detectable amount of any illegal drug or illegal controlled substance in an 
employee's body while performing County business or while in a County facility is prohibited. 
Any illegal drugs or drug paraphernalia will be turned over to an appropriate law enforcement 
agency and may result in criminal prosecu�on. 
 

E. Carroll County will not allow any employee to perform their du�es while taking prescribed drugs 
that are adversely affec�ng the employee's ability to safely and effec�vely perform their job 
du�es. Employees taking a prescribed medica�on must carry it in the container labeled by a 
licensed pharmacist or be prepared to produce it if asked. The Employer and employee must 
adhere to all provisions of the Compassionate Use of Medical Cannabis Program Act (410 ILCS 
130). 

 
Any illegal drugs or drug paraphernalia will be turned over to an appropriate law enforcement agency 
and may result in criminal prosecu�on. 
 
A. Required Tes�ng 
 
Carroll County retains the right to require the following tests. 
 
 
1. Pre-employment     Ques�oning whether we need pre-employment tes�ng. If no, omit this 
sec�on 



Applicants must pass a drug test upon acceptance of an offer of employment and before beginning work. 
Posi�ons governed by the Department of Transporta�on and other federally regulated (49 CFR 
40.151(e)), safety-sensi�ve posi�ons will require applicants to test nega�ve for illegal substances as well 
as cannabis. A posi�ve test for cannabis that would result in the Employer losing a federal or state 
contract will result in disqualifica�on of further employment considera�on. Refusal to submit to tes�ng 
will result in disqualifica�on of further employment considera�on. 
 
2. Reasonable suspicion 
Employees are subject to tes�ng based on observa�ons by a supervisor of apparent workplace use, 
possession or impairment. Management must use the Reasonable Suspicion Observa�on Checklist to 
document specific observa�ons and behaviors that create a reasonable suspicion that an employee is 
under the influence of illegal drugs, alcohol or legal substances that are adversely affec�ng the 
employee's ability to safely and effec�vely perform their job du�es. Examples include: 
 

a. Odors (smell of alcohol or cannabis, body odor or urine). 
b. Movements (unsteady, fidgety, dizzy). 
c. Eyes (dilated, constricted or watery eyes, or involuntary eye movements). 
d. Facial appearance (flushed, swea�ng, confused or blank look). 
e. Speech (slurred, slow, distracted mid-thought, inability to verbalize thoughts). 
f. Emo�ons (argumenta�ve, agitated, irritable, drowsy). 
g. Ac�ons (yawning, twitching). 
h. Inac�ons (sleeping, unconscious, no reac�on to ques�ons). 
i. Negligence or carelessness in opera�ng equipment or machinery 
j. Disregard for the safety of the employee or others 
k. Involved in any accident that results in serious damage to equipment or property 
l. Carelessness that results in any injury to the employee or others 

 
When reasonable suspicion tes�ng is warranted, both management and HR will meet with the employee 
to explain the observa�ons and the requirement to undergo a drug and/or alcohol test within one hour. 
Refusal by an employee will be treated as a posi�ve test result and will result in immediate termina�on 
of employment. 
If discipline results due to the suspicion that the employee is under the influence or impaired by 
cannabis, the Employer will afford the employee a reasonable opportunity to contest the basis of the 
determina�on. 
Under no circumstances will the employee be allowed to drive himself or herself to the tes�ng facility. A 
member of management must transport the employee or arrange for transporta�on and arrange for the 
employee to be transported home. 
 
3. Random        Given the cost of tes�ng, do we need this. Are we going to start random tes�ng? 
If no, omit this sec�on 
The County may randomly test employees for compliance with its drug and alcohol-free workplace 
policy. Random tes�ng means employees will be selected for tes�ng using a computer-based, random-
number generator. This will result in an equal probability that any employee from the en�re group of 
employees will be tested. 
 
Tes�ng must be completed on the same workday the employee is selected, absent extenua�ng 
circumstances. In all circumstances, tes�ng must be completed within 2 hours of selec�on. If an 
employee selected for tes�ng is unavailable for a legi�mate reason such as an extended medical 



absence, human resources will document the circumstances for failure to test. The Employer has no 
discre�on to waive the selec�on of an employee selected at random. 
 
Employees must advise the tes�ng lab of all prescrip�on drugs taken in the past month before the test 
and must be prepared to show proof of such prescrip�ons upon request. 
Where the employee believes that the posi�ve test result was affected by taking lawful or prescribed 
substances not in viola�on of company policy, the employee may be suspended without pay pending 
substan�a�on of the employee's claims. Employees will be provided no more than two business days in 
which to produce this addi�onal informa�on. 
 
4. Post-accident/Injury      
 
Employees are subject to tes�ng when they cause or contribute to accidents that seriously damage a 
County vehicle, machinery, equipment or property or that result in an injury to themselves or another 
employee requiring offsite medical aten�on. A circumstance that cons�tutes probable belief will be 
presumed to arise in any instance involving a work- related accident or injury in which an employee who 
was opera�ng a motorized vehicle (including a Employer forkli�, pickup truck, overhead crane or 
aerial/man-li�) is found to be responsible for causing the accident. In any of these instances, the 
inves�ga�on and subsequent tes�ng must take place within one hour following the accident, if not 
sooner. Refusal by an employee will be treated as a posi�ve test result and will result in immediate 
termina�on of employment. 
 
Under no circumstances will the employee be allowed to drive himself or herself to the tes�ng facility. A 
member of management must transport the employee or arrange for transporta�on and arrange for the 
employee to be transported home. 
 
B. Collec�on and Tes�ng Procedures 
Employees subject to alcohol tes�ng will be transported to a facility designated by Carroll County and 
directed to provide breath specimens. Breath specimens will be tested by trained technicians using 
federally approved breath alcohol tes�ng devices capable of producing printed results that iden�fy the 
employee. If an employee's breath alcohol concentra�on is .04 or more, a second breath specimen will 
be tested approximately 20 minutes later. The results of the second test will be determina�ve. Alcohol 
tests may, however, be a breath, blood or saliva test, at the company's discre�on. For purposes of this 
policy, test results generated by law enforcement or medical providers may be considered by the 
company as work rule viola�ons. 
Applicants and employees subject to drug tes�ng will be transported to a tes�ng facility designated by 
Carroll County and directed to provide urine specimens. 
Applicants and employees may provide specimens in private unless they appear to be submi�ng altered, 
adulterated or subs�tute specimens. Collected specimens will be sent to a federally cer�fied laboratory 
and tested for evidence of cannabis, cocaine, opiates, amphetamines, PCP, benzodiazepines, methadone, 
methaqualone and propoxyphene use. (Where indicated, specimens may be tested for other illegal 
drugs.) The laboratory will screen all specimens and confirm all posi�ve screens. There must be a chain 
of custody from the �me specimens are collected through tes�ng and storage. 
 
C. Consequences 
Applicants who refuse to cooperate in a drug test or who test posi�ve will not be hired and will not be 
allowed to reapply/retest in the future. **possibly removed if omi�ng pre-employment** 



Employees who refuse to cooperate in required tests or who use, possess, buy, sell, manufacture or 
dispense an illegal drug, cannabis or alcohol in viola�on of this policy will be terminated. If the employee 
refuses to be tested, yet the County believes he or she is impaired, under no circumstances will the 
employee be allowed to drive himself or herself home. 
Employees who test posi�ve, or otherwise violate this policy, will be terminated. Employees will be paid 
for �me spent in alcohol or drug tes�ng and then suspended pending the results of the drug or alcohol 
test. A�er the results of the test are received, a date and �me will be scheduled to discuss the results of 
the test; this mee�ng will include a member of management, a union representa�ve (if requested), and 
HR. Should the results prove to be nega�ve, the employee will receive back pay for the �mes/days of 
suspension. 
D. Confiden�ality 
Informa�on and records rela�ng to posi�ve test results, drug and alcohol dependencies and legi�mate 
medical explana�ons provided to the County shall be kept confiden�al to the extent required by law and 
maintained in secured files separate from normal personnel files. Such records and informa�on may be 
disclosed among managers and supervisors on a need-to-know basis and may also be disclosed when 
relevant to a grievance, charge, claim or other legal proceeding ini�ated by or on behalf of an employee 
or applicant. 
 
E. Inspec�ons 
 
Carroll County reserves the right to inspect all por�ons of its premises for drugs, alcohol, or other 
contraband. All employees, contract employees and visitors may be asked to cooperate in inspec�ons of 
their persons, work areas, and property that might conceal a drug, alcohol or other contraband. 
Employees who possess such contraband or refuse to cooperate in such inspec�ons are subject to 
appropriate discipline up to and including discharge. 
 
F. Crimes Involving Drugs 
 
Carroll County prohibits all employees from manufacturing, distribu�ng, dispensing, possessing or using 
an illegal drug, cannabis or alcohol in or on county premises or while conduc�ng county business. 
Employees are also prohibited from misusing legally prescribed or over-the-counter (OTC) drugs. Law 
enforcement personnel shall be no�fied, as appropriate, when criminal ac�vity is suspected. 
As a condi�on of employment, each employee shall agree to no�fy his/her supervisor of his/her 
convic�on of any criminal drug statute for a viola�on occurring on the department premises or while 
performing work for the department, no later than five (5) days a�er a convic�on. 
 
Employees shall be informed of the dangers of drug and alcohol abuse in the workplace and about the 
Carroll County policy of maintaining a drug and alcohol- free workplace. 
 
"Company premises" includes all buildings, offices, facili�es, grounds, parking lots, lockers, places and 
vehicles owned, leased or managed by Carroll County or any site on which Carroll County is conduc�ng 
business. 
"Controlled Substance" is a substance which is defined as a controlled substance in the Illinois Controlled 
Substance Act (720 ILCS 570/1 et seq). 
 
"Refuse to cooperate" means to obstruct the collec�on or tes�ng process; to submit an altered, 
adulterated or subs�tute sample; to fail to show up for a scheduled test; to refuse to complete the 
requested drug tes�ng forms; or to fail to promptly provide specimen(s) for tes�ng when directed to do 



so, without a valid medical basis for the failure. Employees who leave the scene of an accident without 
jus�fiable explana�on prior to submission to drug and alcohol tes�ng will also be considered to have 
refused to cooperate and will automa�cally be subject to discharge. 
"Under the influence of alcohol" means an alcohol concentra�on equal to or greater than .04, or ac�ons, 
appearance, speech or bodily odors that reasonably cause a supervisor to conclude that an employee is 
impaired because of alcohol use. 
 
"Under the influence of drugs" means a confirmed posi�ve test result for illegal drug use per this policy. 
In addi�on, it means the misuse of legal drugs (prescrip�on and possibly OTC) when there is not a valid 
prescrip�on from a physician for the lawful use of a drug in the course of medical treatment (containers 
must include the pa�ent's name, the name of the substance, quan�ty/amount to be taken and the 
period of authoriza�on). 
 
G. Enforcement of Drug Free Policy 
 
Carroll County Officials are responsible for policy interpreta�on, administra�on and enforcement. 
 

 
Ar�cle 60.8 

-60-1-6.2 DISCIPLINE PROCEDURE. 
 
It may o�en be in the best interest of Carroll County to follow correc�ve discipline ac�vi�es on the part 
of the employer, rather than to consistently offer punishment. 
 
The essence of this policy is that it is the supervisor and/or the department head's responsibility to 
imagina�vely enforce correc�on for unacceptable employee behavior. There are many avenues available 
to posi�vely enforce correc�ve discipline. These include counseling (talking to the employee), seeking 
outside assistance, and making the employee part of the organiza�on's decision making process. Of 
course, there will be instances where posi�ve discipline is not an acceptable method. In these cases, 
writen no�fica�on or reprimand, suspension, demo�on, and/or ul�mately dismissal or 
recommenda�on of dismissal may have to be used. 
 

A. 60-1-6.2-1 The department head or work supervisor should imagina�vely and consistently 
meet out correc�ve discipline. Care should be taken to treat each case based on the facts of that 
case and not on similar or like circumstances occurring in the past. Considera�on should be 
given to the following: 
1. What is the purpose of the rule/regula�on? 
2. What evidence do we have that the employee knew and understood the rule? 
3. What evidence do we have that the employee knew of possible penal�es for viola�ng the 

rule? 
4. What is the nature of the in-house hearing for the employee to answer the allega�on of rule 

viola�on? 
5. What evidence is available that the employee violated the rule? 
6. If the evidence established that the employee violated the rule, what correc�ve ac�on will 

be given in this case? 
7. What precedents do we have that the viola�ons merit the penalty given? 
8. What evidence do we have that all employees who have violated the same rule have been so 

accused and, if found in viola�on, have received similar penal�es? 



 
B. 60-1-6.2-2 Correc�ve discipline should follow a consistent patern. All correc�ve disciple 

should use the following steps: 
1. One-on-one counseling, and if indicated, assistance in solving a problem area should be 

given prior to the ini�a�on of any disciplinary ac�on. 
2. Oral reprimand (warning) should be given prior to ini�a�on of a disciplinary ac�on (unless it 

is serious or is cause for dismissal). 
3. Writen reprimand (warning) or correc�on should be given to the employee a�er a 

recurrence of the ac�on. A copy of this should be sent to the County Board Chairman for 
inclusion in the employee's personnel file. Employees should sign a dated statement that 
he/she received no�fica�on. 

4. Disciplinary suspension should follow a repeated failure of the employee to correct his/her 
ac�ons. Disciplinary suspension may also be used for first offense which is of an 
extraordinary nature. In general, suspension of from one to three days WITHOUT PAY is 
sufficient to produce improved behavior. In any event, suspension may never exceed 30 days 
in any one year commencing with the first day or any first suspension.  

 
C. 60-1-6.2-3 FINAL ACTION.  Demo�on or discharge is the final ac�on. 

1. 60-1-6.2-4 Employees will have the opportunity to file a grievance against suspension, 
demo�on or discharge. (See Ar�cle 8) 

2. 60-1-6.2-5 Department heads and work supervisors are responsible for providing writen 
documenta�on on disciplinary ac�on taken against employees. 

 
 

Ar�cle 60.9 
60-1-6.3 OUTSIDE OTHER EMPLOYMENT. 

 
No permanent full-�me or part-�me employee shall engage in outside employment which is not 
compa�ble with the full and proper discharge of du�es and responsibili�es of his/her posi�on or which 
tends to impair the capacity to perform his/her du�es and responsibili�es in an acceptable manner. 
Certain posi�ons are of a sensi�ve nature requiring public trust. The County must assure that no conflict 
occurs, that no unauthorized use of posi�on or County facili�es or property takes place, and that all 
employees are able to fully discharge all du�es and responsibili�es for which they are being paid.  
 

A. A full-�me employee wishing to engage in outside employment, or an employee at �me of 
implementa�on of this policy now so employed and wishing to con�nue his outside 
employment, should discuss the outside employment with his department head. 
1. 60-1-6.3-1 If the department head disapproves of the employment, a copy of the no�ce 

and reasons for disapproval shall be sent to the employee and to the County Board 
Chairman for inclusion in the employee's personnel file. 

2. 60-1-6.3-2 Cau�on should be used in exercising the right to disapprove outside 
employment. Department heads should be convinced that a genuine conflict of interest 
would occur. 

 
60-1-6.3-3 INTERNAL REGULATION. Mul�-Department Employment 
 



Part-�me employment within the full-�me employee's own department or within another unit of 
County government is discouraged. Persons so employed at the �me of implementa�on of these policies 
and procedures may con�nue such employment under the following condi�ons: 
 

A. The full-�me hours worked and the part-�me hours worked must be reported separately and 
paid from separate funds. In the event of employment in the same department, a separate line 
item must be developed for the part-�me payment. 
1. No benefits will accrue to the part-�me hours worked except I.M.R.F. contribu�ons. 

  
B. A part-�me employee may work in two or more departments up to the total of 30 hours per 

week. 
 
60-1-6.4 RESTRICTION OF POLITICAL ACTIVITIES. 
 
No County employee shall engage in poli�cal ac�vi�es during working hours. 
 
No County employee shall use his/her posi�on or the authority of his/her office to solicit contribu�ons 
or any other support of par�san poli�cal ac�vi�es. 
 
No county employee shall be in�midated into suppor�ng or contribu�ng to par�san poli�cal ac�vi�es. 
 
Any viola�on of this rule is cause for suspension or dismissal. 
 
Outside of working hours, there shall be no restric�on on poli�cal ac�vi�es, except employees under 
federal grants covered by the Hatch Act.  
 
60-1-6.6 CONFLICT OF INTEREST. 
 
Except as otherwise authorized or provided by the Illinois Revised Statues, Carroll county Resolu�on, or 
ac�on of the Carroll County Board, no employee of the County shall have any substan�al interest, direct 
or indirect, or engage in any business transac�on or professional ac�vity, or incur any obliga�on of any 
nature which is in conflict with the proper discharge of his du�es in the public interest. 
 
No employee of the County shall use his posi�on to secure special privileges or exemp�ons, personally 
or for others. 
 
 
 
 

Ar�cle 60.10 
60-1-6.5 USE OF COUNTY PROPERTY AND FACILITIES 

 
A. 60-1-6.5-1 Use of County vehicles, equipment, supplies and tools. 

1. County vehicles, equipment, supplies or tools shall not be used for private and unauthorized 
purposes. 

2. Employees shall be responsible for the care and conserva�on of County vehicles, equipment, 
supplies or tools and shall promptly report accidents, breakdowns or malfunc�ons of any 
unit in order that necessary repairs be made. 



3. In using the County's vehicular equipment, employees must keep in mind the fact that they 
are representa�ves of the County government and that their conduct in adhering to the 
rules of safety and courtesy on the road is a reflec�on on the en�re organiza�on and its level 
of law enforcement. Thus, it is impera�ve that such employees abide by these rules and 
customs. 

4. Where it is permited that County vehicles be driven to and from work and/or stored at the 
employee's residence, they shall not be used except in the line of work. Under no 
circumstances may any unauthorized person operate the vehicle. Non-compliance with this 
rule shall result in immediate disciplinary ac�on as specified in sec�ons 60-1-6.2,60-1-6.3 
and 60-1-6.4  

 
B. 60-1-6.5-2 OTHER PROPERTY COUNTY EQUIPMENT -  Employees are required to return all 

County property or equipment in their possession upon separa�on from employment, 
promo�on and/or transfer to another department. The employee's final paycheck will be 
withheld un�l such �me as this is sa�sfactorily accomplished.  

C. 60-1-6.5-3 USE OF COUNTY TELEPHONE AND/OR ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION DEVICES 
1. Employees are permited to place and receive personal calls and emails under a general 

policy of courtesy and common sense.  This is a privilege and not a right that may be 
withdrawn by the department head if abused through excessive use or if 
telephoning/emailing causes interference with work du�es. 

2. An employee wishing to make a long distance personal call should get the permission of his 
supervisor and/or use personal cell phone. Personal calls should be made during the 
employee's break period. In case of u�lizing County telephones, they should reimburse the 
County for the call. 

3. The use of County electronic and/or telephonic equipment should be viewed as a privilege, 
not a right of employment. 

 
 
 
 

ARTICLE 60.11 
 

TERMINATIONS    SEPATATIONS 
 
60-1-7.1 I.M.R.F TERMINATIONS 
 
60-1-7.1-1 I.M.R.F. SEPARATION BENEFIT AND RETIREMENT PENSION APPLICATION. 
 
The purpose of this sec�on is to apprise employees of all en�tlements and benefits they may be eligible 
to receive from I.M.R.F. 
 

A. Re�rements. In order to be eligible for an I.M.R.F. pension, the employees must be at least 55 
years old and have completed eight years of service. The amount of a pension is determined by 
the length of service of the employee and his/her average earnings. 
1. Re�ring employees should be directed to the I.M.R.F. agent at least six months prior to the 

expected date of re�rement. In addi�on to the comple�on of necessary forms, the I.M.R.F. 
agent shall brief such employees rela�ve to the procedure to be followed in applying for 
Social Security benefits, if applicable. 



2. Employees desiring to know the amount of their pension from I.M.R.F. may contact the 
Office of the Treasurer one month prior to the expected date of re�rement and receive an 
es�mate of the benefit amount. 

3. Re�ring employees will be eligible for compensa�on for any earned but unused general 
leave accrual. 

 
B. Separa�on of benefit other than re�rement. To be eligible to receive a refund of their own 

I.M.R.F. contribu�ons when they stop working as I.M.R.F. par�cipants: 
1. Employees shall be under age 55, irrespec�ve of length of service. 
2. Employees shall have completed less than eight years of service irrespec�ve of age. 
3. The employee shall be over age 55, but have a pension less than $30.00 a month. 

 
C. The separa�on benefit is a refund of the employee's own I.M.R.F. contribu�on. No interest is 

paid with a separa�on refund, nor are the employer I.M.R.F. contribu�ons refunded to the 
employee. 
1. The employee should fill out the appropriate I.M.R.F. refund form through the Office of the 

Treasurer who will, immediately upon the employee's termina�on, submit the no�ce of 
termina�on of employment form. Payment is normally made within three or four weeks 
a�er I.M.R.F. has received this informa�on.   

2. An employee need not withdraw his/her contribu�ons. If he/she has eight or more years of 
service, he/she may draw a pension at age 55 or therea�er. If he/she has less than eight 
years of service, he/she may earn a pension by future service under I.M.R.F. or another 
Illinois public pension system.  

This separa�on policy applies to all termina�ons excluding re�rement. 
 
 
60-1-7.1-2 EMPLOYMENT RESIGNATION -VOLUNTARY. 
 

A. An employee may resign from County employment by presen�ng his/her resigna�on in wri�ng 
to his/her department head. To resign in good standing, an employee must give the department 
head at least 14 calendar days no�ce.  
1. The department head may, at his/her op�on, choose to set the date for actual termina�on 

prior to the end of 14 calendar days.  
2. Upon approval of the department head, an employee may withdraw his/her resigna�on no 

later than ten calendar days a�er the date the resigna�on no�ce is submited, unless 
provision for a replacement has already been made. 

B.  In order to establish a uniform policy regarding resigna�on, the following procedure will be 
used: 
1. The department head shall make sure that all County property and equipment in the 

possession of the employee, including keys, tools, uniforms, insurance cards, etc., are 
returned to the department prior to the employee's departure. 

2. Resigning employees giving two weeks no�ce will be eligible for compensa�on for any 
earned but unused vaca�on leave accrual. Unused accrued vaca�on will be paid only if 
proper no�ce of termina�on is given. 

3. An employee leaving in good standing is eligible for re-employment at a later date. 
 
60-1-7.1-3 EMPLOYMENT RESIGNATION-INVOLUNTARY. 
 



An employee shall be regarded as having resigned a posi�on if able to no�fy the immediate supervisor 
of the reason for the absence, but fails to do so for three consecu�ve working days. Such an employee 
forfeits the right to any accrued benefit payments. Compensa�on owed to the employee for actual �me 
worked during the pay period, including the resigna�on, will be paid on the appropriate pay day. 
 
60-1-7.1-4 DISMISSAL. Employees in an ini�al proba�onary status may be dismissed at any �me at the 
discre�on of the department head. (This policy does not apply to any employee serving a proba�onary 
period following a transfer or promo�on.) 

A. No employee who has non-proba�onary status shall be dismissed except for just cause (see 
sec�on 60-1-6.1). The employee shall, before ac�on is taken, be furnished with a statement, in-
wri�ng, from the department head se�ng forth the reason(s). A copy of the statement and any 
reply from the employee shall be filed with the Chairman of the Board prior to the effec�ve date 
of the dismissal.  

B. Dismissal shall be only for just cause, as follows: 
1. Just cause is a viola�on of established work rules or ac�on on the part of the employee 

which impairs the effec�veness, efficiency or reputa�on of the County. (See sec�on 60-1-6.1 
-  Rules of Conduct, for examples of such ac�on and procedures to follow prior to dismissal.) 

2. An employee dismissed for just cause shall be paid all compensa�on due at the �me of 
termina�on, except in the instances of the provided in sec�on 60-1-6.9. returning 
equipment, etc. 

3. An employee may grieve a dismissal in accordance with Ar�cle 8. 
 
60-1-7.1-5 REDUCTION IN WORK FORCE. 
 
Department heads with the approval of or instruc�on from the County Board, may reduce the workforce 
in their respec�ve departments by termina�ng an employee, or group of employees, by reason of 
aboli�on of a posi�ons(s), shortage of work or funds, or other reasons outside the employee's control, 
and which do not reflect discredit on the work performance of the employee. The du�es formerly 
performed by the terminated employee(s) may be reassigned. 
 

A. To ensure that permanent employees are given adequate no�ce and are treated in a fair and 
consistent manner: 
1. The order of the termina�on shall be established by the department head on the basis of 

the needs of the county. 
2. Considera�on shall be given to both the seniority and rela�ve merit of the persons 

considered for termina�on. 
3. The affected employees shall be no�fied as quickly as possible and, in no event, less than 14 

days before the ac�on takes place. 
4. Employees terminated under this sec�on have the same privileges to re- employment as 

employees on a granted leave of absence without pay. 
5. Employees terminated under this sec�on may be eligible to receive unemployment 

compensa�on and will be informed of that fact by the department head. 
 

B. Employees affected by ac�on under this sec�on are eligible for all compensa�on due in the 
same manner as an employee resigning under favorable condi�ons. A copy of the circumstances 
shall be retained in the employee's personnel file. 
1. When reduc�on of staff is necessary, or dismissal of an employee for any cause is necessary, 

two weeks no�ce or salary will be given, along with unused accrued vaca�on pay. The only 



excep�on will be for reason of misconduct or insubordina�on, where no no�ce will be given, 
but unused vaca�on pay will be allowed. 

2. Any employee who is terminated or dismissed also terminates his group insurance as of the 
day of termina�on, provisions of the COBRA Act will apply. 

3. Nothing in this chapter should be construed as barring any department head from making 
changes in his office personnel as necessary. 

 
 

ARTICLE 60.12 
 

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 
60-1-8.1 GRIEVANCE POLICY. 
 
It is the policy of Carroll County to encourage and promote the prompt and equitable adjustment of 
employee grievances so that a harmonious and produc�ve work environment is maintained. It is not 
necessary that the work situa�on actually be wrong, unjust, or unfair. It is only necessary that the 
employee perceive it to be so. 
 
Employees covered under Collec�ve Bargaining Agreement will follow the grievance procedures outlined 
within their respec�ve contracts. 
 
In so far, as possible, complaints or grievances should be resolved between the employee and the 
elected official or department head. If the mater is not resolved to the sa�sfac�on of the employee, the 
complaint or grievance should be writen to the elected official or department with a copy to the County 
Board Chairman who will appoint a Grievance commitee. The County Grievance Commitee will follow 
the County guidelines outlined in this policy. 
 
60-1-8.1-1 DEFINITIONS. 
 
The word "grievance" shall be defined as a dispute or disagreement raised by an employee or an 
individual atemp�ng to be an employee against Carroll County. Grievances are classified as follows: 
 

A. Alleging discrimina�on by race, color, na�onal origin, sex, sexual orienta�on, age, religion, 
and/or handicap.  

B. Involving personnel prac�ces, but not alleging discrimina�on, specifically the interpreta�on of an 
applica�on of the specific provisions of these policies and procedures and department rules 
established as provided in sec�on 60-1-1.3 (where solu�on or redress is not otherwise provided 
herein). 

C. Alleging criminal fraud and/or abuse. 
 
60-1-8.1-2 BRINGING GRIEVANCES 
 

A. Grievance may be brought by any full-�me or part-�me employee of Carroll County. In addi�on, 
any group of employees may file a class ac�on grievance to correct an alleged wrong. 

 



B. Grievance made by a person not yet employed by the County under the Equal Employment 
Opportuni�es Provisions of the Ordinance may be filed with the County Administrator or the 
County Board Chair and will follow a similar path listed below. 
1. These complaints will be handled by the Administrator or the County Board Chair in place of 

a department head or immediate supervisor star�ng with a writen complaint. 
 

C. 60-1-8.1-3 It shall be the responsibility of each department head to assure that grievances and 
related correspondence are properly recorded, forwarded to the appropriate persons, and filed 
within the department. No department head or work supervisor shall deny an employee the 
right to take the grievance to the next authorized step in the grievance procedure when it 
cannot be setled to the sa�sfac�on of the employee(s) at the lower level. 
 

D. 60-1-8.1-4 GRIEVANCES SHALL BE WRITTEN. Formal grievances and final resolu�on thereof shall 
be completed within 60 calendar days a�er the filing of the formal grievance. A writen 
grievance shall include at least the following: 
1. Name of grievant (also name of person preparing grievance if not the grievant) 
2. Address 
3. Contact informa�on 
4. Explain your grievance and list all those involved or that witnessed any ac�on in the 

complaint. 
5. 60-1-8.1-6 WRITTEN GRIEVANCE   

A writen grievance involves the following steps: Discussion with the immediate 
supervisor. 

a. The employee shall orally discuss the complaint with the immediate supervisor within 
five working days of the alleged ac�on. 

b. The employee's immediate supervisor then has up to five working days to give an oral 
reply to the complainant. Every effort should be made to resolve the complaint at this 
level. 

c. This discussion step may be repeated as o�en as necessary, par�cularly in larger 
departments, by contac�ng the next higher departmental authority for presenta�on of 
the grievance. The informal conference defined in "1" above will always include the 
department head. 

6. 60-1-8.2 A writen (formal) grievance procedure may be ini�ated where the informal 
grievance steps have failed to resolve the grievance in a manner sa�sfactory to the grievant 
following any adverse ac�on defined in sec�on 60-1-8.1-5 "D". 

 
E. 60-1-8.1-5 Grievant have the following rights in the grievance process: 

1. To arrange oral conference. 
2. To file the writen grievance. 
3. To communicate and seek advice from The County Grievance Commitee Following any 

adverse ac�on (suspension, dismissal or an equal employment opportunity complaint), the 
grievant may move immediately to the Formal (writen) Grievance Procedure. 
 

F. Whenever possible, all hearings shall be scheduled during normal working hours. All County 
employees properly appearing before the hearing body shall have such �me considered hours of 
work (though not subject to over�me compensa�on). 

 
 



60-1-8.2-1 FORMAL GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE. COUNTY GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE PROCEDURES 
 

A. A writen request for a formal hearing should be filed with the County Grievance Commitee 
within five working days a�er conclusion of the informal grievance steps described in sec�on 
above 60-1-8.1-6. The request should set forth the nature of the grievance, the facts upon which 
it is based, the ac�on that the grievant requested, and the basis for appeal. 

 
B. The ad hoc County Grievance Commitee shall consist of three members: one department head, 

one County Board member (other than the Chairman of the County Board) who shall serve as 
Chairman of the Grievance Commitee, and one non-supervisory regular employee with two 
years of con�nuous employment with the County. 

 
C. The Chairman of the County Grievance Commitee will be responsible for the no�fica�on of the 

par�es in wri�ng at least five working days prior to the hearing. The no�ce of hearing will clearly 
state: 
1. The date, �me and place of the hearing. 
2. The purpose of the hearing and a statement of issues involved. 
3. That other "interested par�es" can apply for no�ce and par�cipate when allowed. 
4. The necessity for atending the hearing and disadvantages of not atending. 
5. Procedural rights, such as the right to present tes�mony, to bring witness and records, to 

present oral arguments and ques�on witnesses or par�es, and have documents produced. 
6. That the grievant may withdraw the request for a formal hearing in wri�ng any�me prior to 

the start of the hearing. 
7. That a writen request to reschedule the hearing for good cause may be made by the 

grievant or his representa�ve up un�l three working days preceding the original hearing 
date. 

8. That both par�es may retain atorneys at their own expense. (No�fica�on that legal counsel 
has been retained by either party must be made to the other party at least ten days prior to 
the hearing date.) 

9. That the grievant may have a representa�ve other than an atorney at his/her own expense. 
10. Whenever possible, the hearing shall be scheduled during normal working hours. 

 
D. The Chairman of the Carroll County Grievance Commitee shall be responsible for the conduct of 

the hearing. The hearing will be conducted informally, in that the technical rules rela�ng to 
evidence and witnesses will not control. Any relevant evidence will be admited if it is the type of 
evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely on the conduct of serious affairs, 
regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rules which might make improper 
the admission of such evidence over objec�ons in a court of law. However, the quan�ty of 
evidence required to support a decision on an issue should be sufficiently credible that a court, 
upon reviewing the decision, would conclude that it is supported by a preponderance of the 
evidence. 

E. The Chairman of the County Grievance Commitee will ascertain that all three commitee 
members are present and will begin the hearing by summarizing the record and issues 
explaining the manner in which the hearing will be conducted, making sure that everyone 
involved understands the proceedings. This explana�on will be adapted to the needs of the 
specific situa�on. 
1. The commitee will take tes�mony under oath. 



2. The purpose of the hearing will be to determine, based upon the totality of the 
circumstances: 
a. Whether the request for the hearing was made in a �mely manner and applicable 

procedures were followed. 
b. Whether the preponderance of the evidence supports the posi�on of the grievant. 

F. The Chairman of the County Grievance Commitee determines the order of presenta�on at the 
hearing. 

G. The commitee will obtain the maximum amount of informa�on as is reasonable under the 
circumstances for the record. 

H. The commitee may atempt to nego�ate a resolu�on of the issue at any�me prior to the 
conclusion of the hearing. 

I. Those por�ons of the hearing which fall within a statutory excep�on to the Open Mee�ng Act 
(Illinois Revised Statues, Chapter 102, Sec�on 42, as amended) shall not be open to the public. 

J. The par�es can present documentary evidence, and the grievant can have relevant records or 
documents kept in the ordinary course or business produced at the hearing. 
 

K. No power to issue subpoenas exists. County employees shall atend and give what informa�on 
or evidence they have as part of their regular employment. Willfully giving false or misleading 
evidence or refusal to appear may be grounds for dismissal of County employees. 
 

L. There will be an opportunity to ques�on any witness or par�es. 
 

M. On the date set for the hearing, all par�es involved will be expected to by ready to proceed at 
the hour set and any failure to be prepared to proceed at that �me may be deemed by the 
commitee to be an admission by the unprepared party that the party's case is not meritorious, 
and that a decision should be rendered against the party. If the party against who the decision 
was thus rendered, offers within 30 calendar days of the decision an explana�on sa�sfactory to 
the commitee, the commitee may set aside its decision and reschedule the hearing. 
 

N. The decision of the County Grievance Commitee shall be based on the majority vote, and the 
decision shall be given in wri�ng to the par�es within five working days a�er the hearing. The 
decision should be writen in clear, simple, non- technical language and will include the following 
informa�on: 
1. A list of the atendees at the hearing. 
2. A clear and concise statement of the issues. 
3. The findings of fact, based on the en�re record as disclosed at the hearing. 
4. The opinion and reasons for the decision. 
5. The conclusion based on the findings of fact and opinion indica�ng the final judgment of the 

County Grievance Commitee on the issues involved and pronouncing the ac�on involved. 
 

O. The County Grievance Commitee may approve or disapprove an ac�on of a department head. It 
may recommend reinstatement of an employee or may recommend other ac�on to the 
appropriate County Board Commitee or department head. 

P. A record will be made of the proceedings of the formal hearing and shall be retained in the office 
of the County Board. 

 
 



60-1-8.2-2 CRIMINAL FRAUD OR ABUSE CRIMINAL FRAUD OR ABUSE GRIEVANCES 
 
Grievances involving allega�ons of criminal fraud and/or abuse will be turned over to the Carroll County 
State's Atorney's office for determina�on of a criminal ac�vity. If any criminal ac�vity is found, grievance 
procedures under this sec�on will be stayed pending the adjudica�on in the courts. If criminal ac�vity is 
not found, procedures described in this sec�on will be followed. 
 
60-1-8.2-3 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS FOR GRIEVANCES 

A. The Carroll County Grievance Commitee, ac�ng in its discre�on, may hear and act upon 
grievance declared by the commitee to be serious and appropriate for the commitee ac�on, 
with binding advisory effect, as it sees fit. 

B. Upon mutual agreement, �me limits established may be waived. 
C. The informal grievance procedure shall be private and considered to be internal to the 

department. 
D. This ar�cle does not apply to: 

1. Issues subject to final administra�ve review outside County Government.  
2. Non-selec�on for promo�on or merit salary increase from a group of properly ranked and 

cer�fied candidates. 
 
60-1-8.3 DRUG FREE WORK ENVIRONMENT   
Carroll County will establish a drug free environment. 
 
 

Ar�cle 60.13 
CONCLUSION OF EMPLOYEE PERSONNEL CODE*** 

A. 60-1-8.4 SEVERABILITY. The ar�cles, sec�ons, subsec�ons, paragraphs, and provisions of this 
ordinance shall be deemed to be separable, and the invalidity of any por�on of this ordinance 
shall not affect the validity of the remainder. 

 
B. 60-1-8.5 REPEAL. The personnel policies of Carroll County, adopted by the Carroll County Board, 

and any other ordinance, resolu�on, or ac�on of the County Board or por�on thereof, in conflict 
with this ordinance or any of the provisions thereof, are hereby repealed as of the effec�ve date 
of this ordinance. 
 

C. 60-1-8.6 EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
Please acknowledge receipt and review of this policy by comple�ng the following form and returning it 
to the County Treasurers Office for placement in your personnel file. 
 
I have read and I understand the Carroll County Policy including the Policy Prohibi�ng Sexual 
Harassment, Zero Tolerance Drug and Alcohol in the Workplace. I understand that if I ever have any 
ques�ons or concerns I can speak to my supervisor or the State's Atorney. I have signed and dated this 
acknowledgment to confirm my receipt and understanding of the policy. 
 
 
Printed Name:                                                              Signature:   
Date:    



 
 

D. 60-1-8.7 EFFECTIVE DATE. This is a new dra�. New dates would apply at a later date. 
 
This ordinance shall take effect to be in full force on and a�er January 16, 2020 
 
WHEREAS, on the 21st of June, 2007, the County Board of Carroll county adopted a PersonnelCode;and 
 
WHEREAS, the Personnel Code is in need of revision; 
  
The COUNTY BOARD OF CARROLL COUNTY hereby ordains that the Personnel Code adopted b the Board 
on June 21, 2007, shall be amended as set forth below. 
 
Adopted by the County Board of Carroll County, Illinois, this 16th of January, 2020. 
Approved 
q 
Kevin Reibel, Chairman Carroll County Board 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
Brian Woessner Carroll County Clerk 
 
Amended January 16, 2020 
 
 
*****The next sec�on has not been edited. 
 

TRAVEL REGULATIONS 60-2 CARROLL COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
 
I. PURPOSE 
 
To provide travel regula�ons and instruc�ons. 
 
II. POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the County of Carroll to reimburse employees for expenses incurred during authorized 
travel provided all reimbursement is allowable within the travel regula�ons established by the County of 
Carroll. 
 
III. OBJECTIVES 
 
To ensure: 
 
A. Travel vouchers are completed in an accurate and �mely manner. 
 
B. The traveler is reimbursed only those amounts allowable as established in the travel regula�ons. 
 



IV. RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Employees submi�ng travel vouchers and travel requests are personally responsible for their accuracy. 
Any fraudulent misrepresenta�ons will be cause for disciplinary or legal ac�on. 
 
V. PROCEDURES 
 
A. Travel Voucher 
 
A Travel Voucher submited for travel incurred will: 
 
1. Be prepared and submited as specified in the direc�ve en�tled “Travel Voucher”. 
 
2. Be accurate and complete. 
 
B. Request for Travel. 
 
A Request for Travel submited for out-of-state travel will: 
 
1. Be prepared when overnight lodging is involved. 
 
2. Be signed by the employee who will incur the expense and the department head for approval as 
appropriated in the Carroll County Budget. 
  
3. Contain detail informa�on as to: 
 
a. Date of departure 
 
b. Des�na�on 
 
c. Date(s) of events 
 
d. Length of �me necessary for the trip 
 
e. Purpose of trip 
 
VI. REGULATIONS 
 
A. Reimbursement: Meals 
 
1. Maximum reimbursement of $100 per day per individual for all meals. 
2. All reimbursement requests must be accompanied by receipts for all meals. Receipts must show 
the complete address of the establishment, be the itemized customer receipt and must be submited 
with the Travel Voucher to support expenses claimed. 
3. Alcohol is not reimbursable for any reason. 
 
 
VII. Reimbursement: Lodging 



 
1. Lodging 
 
a. The actual cost of lodging, excluding �ps and room service, not in excess of government rate or 
the preferred rate for the event being atended. 
 
b. The original of the lodging receipt, showing the complete address of the establishment, must be 
submited with the Travel Voucher to support expenses claimed. 
 
c. Guaranteed room reserva�ons not kept or cancelled are not reimbursable so the individual 
involved will be responsible for payment. 
 
2. Miscellaneous Travel Expense 
 
a. The cost of other miscellaneous travel expenses incurred will be allowed, if reasonable. The 
following are examples of special expenses for which reimbursement may be given: Stenographic and 
typing services, storage of baggage, and telephone calls for official business. (Receipts must be 
submited for any miscellaneous charges.) 
  
b. Vehicle storage; parking fees; bridge, road and tunnel tolls; baggage transfer; taxi fare; and other 
reasonable miscellaneous expenses are reimbursable. The original of receipt for any expense must be 
atached to the Travel Voucher. 
 
C. Use of Privately-Owned Conveyance 
 
1. Use of privately-owned motor vehicles for county business is permited when specifically 
authorized by the department supervisor or County Board Chair. 
 
a. The mileage reimbursement rate is the current Internal Revenue Service rate. 
 
D. Itemized Expenses 
 
1. Expenses will be itemized in detail by days and types of expenses. Expenses will not be allowed 
for items described as miscellaneous, incidental, services, etc. 
 
2. The actual cost of meals for a non-county employee are reimbursable in reasonable amount in 
connec�on with County business. The Travel Voucher will indicate in detail why and for whom the 
expense was incurred and will be shown in the miscellaneous column with receipt atached. The voucher 
must cer�fy that the claim does not include alcoholic beverages. 
 
3. All applicable spaces on the Travel Voucher must be completed. The �me of departure and 
arrival at the loca�on where expenses are incurred must be listed. 
 
4. The purpose of all travel must be indicated on the voucher. 
 
5. Inves�ga�ve expenses listed on the Travel Voucher will be itemized on a separate sheet of paper 
and stapled to the voucher when submited to the County Board. 
 



NOTE: Inves�ga�ve Services expenses would be for items not normally reimbursable from County funds 
such as alcoholic beverages purchased during an inves�ga�on, etc. 
 
6. Any Travel Voucher not prepared in accordance with these regula�ons will be returned for 
correc�on or for addi�onal informa�on at any �me. 
 
E. Excep�ons 
 
The Carroll County Board may grant approval of excep�ons to the Travel Regula�ons if it is necessary to 
meet special circumstances and is in the best interest of the County of Carroll. 
  
1. Employees must show a genuine atempt to obtain lodging at the established rate before 
excep�ons will be allowed. 
 
a. A diligent effort must have been made to obtain lodging in a hotel honoring the governmental 
rate. Contac�ng three or four hotels in an urban area is considered reasonable. This is not required when 
an employee is atending a conference and stays at or near the hotel where the conference is held. 
 
2. All travel will be by the most economical mode of transporta�on available, considering travel 
�me, costs and work requirements. 
 
 
 
By Order of: 
q¼,--•    
Chairman Carroll County 
 
This policy shall become effec�ve September 1, 2022 and shall be in effect un�l rescinded or modified by 
the Carroll County Board. 






	Agenda
	Dec. 7th County Board Minutes
	Committee on Claims
	Board Member Services
	ACO Report
	Co. Clerk Semi-Annual Report
	Co. Clerk I Voted Sticker Contest Winner
	Sheriff Semi-Annual Report
	UCCI Report
	Inmate Housing Committee Report
	Chapater 60 Personnel Code
	Conditional Offer of Employment Director of Zoning
	Chairman Report - Grotto Letter



